
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 
 

Robin Gomez – City Manager 

 

  
     

 

  

AGENDA  Tuesday, February 25,  2020 7:00PM 
A. ROLL CALL  

 

B. WORK SESSION - RESIDENT COMMENT POLICY  
Any member of the public may address questions or comments to the Council referencing only agenda items after the Mayor 
and council have had the opportunity to discuss the agenda item. Each Attendee will be allowed 3 minutes for comments at 
the discretion of the Presiding Officer. Attendees will be asked to conclude their comments in a reasonable time period if 
they exceed the 3 minute limit. 

                      
C. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS 

 
D. OLD BUSINESS 

 
E. NEW BUSINESS 

E1) PUBLIC HEARING: A request from the North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, 
Incorporated for a conditional use permit for the properties located at 961 Rowland Street and 3673 Hill Street, 
zoned NR-1, Low Density Neighborhood Residential, Clarkston, GA 30021, for the construction of athletic fields 
and other athletic facilities to support the church’s mission and for church related activities. 
 
E2) Discuss Charter Review Committee 2nd and Final Report Covering Articles III-Section 3.02 through the end 
of the Charter, Article V-Miscellaneous   
 
E3) Clarkston Residents Speak Program – Presentations  
 
E4) Reappointment of SAC Committee Chairs for all committees  
 
E5) Discuss DDA Appointments (1 by council member & 2 by Mayor) 
 
E6) Discuss potential Moratorium on Storage Companies, Gas Stations, and Family Dollar/Dollar General  
 
E7) Discuss Community Benefits Agreements 
 
E8)  Discuss Rescheduling August and November 2020 Council Meetings 
 
E9) Urban Productive Landscape Installations - Recommend Selection of Low Bidder 
 
E10) Willow Creek Apartment (Smith St) Culvert Replacement project Recommend Selection of Low Bidder & 
Temporary Construction Ease 
 
E11) Amend Early Learning Task Force Resolution to increase members from 11 to 20 and appoint members 
 
E12) Appeal of City Denial of Renewal Application for Permit to Operate a Pawn Shop or Title Pawn for TitleMax 
located at 4222 E Ponce de Leon Ave   

   
F. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

To Discuss a Personnel Matter 
 

G. ADJOURNMENT  
 

YT Bell   Laura Hopkins                                       
Jamie Carroll       Ahmed Hassan 
Awet Eyasu           Debra Johnson 
 

Ted Terry – Mayor 



 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: February 25, 2020 
 

SUBJECT: Conditional use permit request for the properties located at 961 Rowland Street and 3673 
Hill Street.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
PURPOSE: A request from the North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, 
Incorporated for a conditional use permit for the properties located at 961 Rowland Street and 3673 
Hill Street, zoned NR-1, Low Density Neighborhood Residential, Clarkston, GA 30021, for the 
construction of athletic fields and other athletic facilities to support the church’s mission and for 
church related activities.  
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   

A conditional use permit application request shall be heard at public hearings to determine whether 
or not the applicants proposed conditional use would generally be in the public interest. In 
considering whether a proposed conditional use is in the public interest, the mayor and city council 
shall consider the following, among other relevant factors: (1) Whether the conditional use would 
be injurious to the use and enjoyment of the environment or of other property in the immediate 
vicinity or diminish and impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood; (2) Whether 
the proposed conditional use would increase local or state expenditures in relation to cost of 
servicing or maintaining neighboring properties; (3) Whether the establishment of the conditional 
use would impede the normal and orderly development of surrounding property for uses 
predominant in the area; and  (4) Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional 
use would be consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommended denial of the conditional use permit request to construct athletic fields and other 
athletic facilities to support the church’s mission and for church related activities.  

 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 02/18/2020 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended denial of the conditional use permit request to construct 
athletic fields and other athletic facilities to support the church’s mission and for church related 
activities.  

 

 

ITEM NO: E1 

ACTION TYPE: 
PUBLIC HEARING 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS: YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  Shawanna Qawiy-Sapp,  
Planning and Development Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



CUP-19-01 
 

 

 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ANALYSIS 
  

Report Prepared by: Shawanna N. Qawiy, Planning & Development Director 

 

Applicant:  Woody Galloway and Laurel David-The Galloway Law Group 

  3500 Lenox Road, Ste. 760 

  Atlanta, Georgia 
   404.965.3680 

  laurel@glawgp.com 

        for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, Inc. 

 

Location:  961 Rowland Street and 3673 Hill Street, Clarkston, GA 30021 

 

Request:  Conditional Use Permit 

 

Parcel ID(s):   18 096 10 002 | 18 096 10 003 

 

Proposed Use 

/Purpose:  To construct athletic fields and athletic facilities to support the church’s 

mission and for church related activities. 

 

Current Land Use:  Low Density Single Family Residential Homes 

 

Sign Posted:  Originally August 29, 2019/January 30, 2020 

 

Planning & Zoning Meeting: September 17, 2019 Deferred until February 18, 2020 

City Council Work Session:  September 24, 2019 Deferred until February 25, 2020 

City Council Meeting:  October 1, 2019       Deferred until March 3, 2020 

 

Lot Size:   +/- 1.7 acres/ (.68 acres) 961 Rowland St. / (1.02 acres) 3673 Hill St. 

 

Road Access:   Hill Street/ Rogers Street/ Rowland Street  

 

 

 

Adjacent Land Use/Zoning 

District:  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 Current 

Zoning 

 

Land Use 

North NR-1 Legal Non-conforming 

parking lot 

East NR-1 Single Family Residential 

South NR-1  Single Family Residential 

& Office  

West NC-1 Mixed Use/ PUD 

mailto:laurel@glawgp.com


City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
The Galloway Law Group/ North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, Inc. 
P&Z Committee Meeting: September 17, 2019 deferred until February 18, 2020 

City Council Meeting: October 1, 2019 deferred until March 3, 2020                                                                                                         
Page 2 

North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, Inc. CUP-19-01 

Conditional Use Criteria; Section 312 

Criteria Point 1: Whether the conditional use would be injurious to the use and enjoyment of 

the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity or diminish and impair property 

values within the surrounding neighborhood;  

Section 701-NR-1 Low Density Neighborhood residential district is intended primarily for single 

family detached residences and residentially-compatible uses requiring greater amounts of open 

space.  The permitted uses in the NR-1 zoning district are single family detached residential 

dwellings; non-commercial horticulture and agriculture, and accessory structures and uses incidental 

to any legal permitted use, including home occupations. The proposed conditional use requests to 

construct athletic fields and athletic facilities would create an increase in traffic conflicts that could 

create a considerable amount of encounters along the heavily traveled pedestrian, cyclist and 

vehicular accessible roads of Rowland, Rogers, and Hill Streets. In the NR-1 low density single 

family zoning district, the incompatible scale and nature of the conditional use requests would not 

preserve the character of the low density single family residential neighborhood.  There is a potential 

for increased vehicle and pedestrian accidents occurrences endangering the safety of the residents of 

the area and the neighborhood as a whole. The proposed conditional uses would be injurious to the 

use and enjoyment of the single family residential homes surrounding the proposed conditional uses 

that could cause harm and endanger the safety and the general welfare of the residents. With the 

applicant proposing an increased amount of traffic to the current residents local travel paths that could 

cause damage to the neighborhoods quality of life. It is reasonable to ascertain that with no proposed 

traffic calming measures for Rogers Street an increase of pedestrian and vehicular traffic to the 

proposed athletic facilities and proposed open fields, may warrant safety issues.  

 

With any new proposed conditional uses/construction, there are minimum parking requirement for 

each use, as outlined in Section 1107: Minimum off-street parking requirements; (See Proposed 

Uses/Minimum Parking Chart A) 
 

Proposed Uses/Minimum Parking: 
 

 

 

 
 Places of 

assembly =  1 

space per 50 sq. ft. 

where fixed seats 

are not provided 

 Recreation-

Commercial and 

Public= 200 sq. 

ft.= 1 space 

 

 

 

 

Criteria Point 2: Whether the proposed conditional use would increase local or state 

expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or maintaining neighboring properties. 

Staff’s position is that an increase in local or state expenditures in relation to costs associated with 

servicing and maintaining neighboring properties cannot be determined at this time. 

Proposed 

Conditional Use 

 Option 1 

Square 

footage 

+/- 

Parking  

Minimum 

Required  

Parking 

spaces 

Option 2 

Square 

footage 

+/- 

Parking 

Minimum 

Required  

Parking 

spaces 

 Playground  2500sf 12 2000sf 10 

 Pavilion  1700sf 34 2700sf 54 

 New Gym 

Building  

  

8400sf 

 

168 

 

8200sf 

 

164 

 Athletic 

Field 1 

 13500sf 67 13500sf 67 

 Athletic 

Field 2 

 5500sf 27 5500sf 27 

   308  322 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
The Galloway Law Group/ North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, Inc. 
P&Z Committee Meeting: September 17, 2019 deferred until February 18, 2020 

City Council Meeting: October 1, 2019 deferred until March 3, 2020                                                                                                         
Page 3 

North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention, Inc. CUP-19-01 

 

Criteria Point 3: Whether the establishment of the conditional use permit would impede the 

normal and orderly development of surrounding property uses predominant in the area. 

Page 24 of the City of Clarkston’s LCI Update 2015 has this area designated as a suburban area that 

“exhibits a dendritic street pattern of single family homes”. Along with pages 25 and 77 illustrating 

in Figure 2.2 Future Land Use Map and Figure 4.2 Proposed Future Land Use the area is designated 

as a suburban area.   Pages 58 and 59 of the Clarkston 2040 Plan designates the proposed conditional 

use area as NR-1 Low Density Residential District zoning. Designated as a single family area for the 

preservation of single family homes both historic as well as new development, the applicants 

proposed conditional use development is intending to be an extension of the mixed use planned unit 

development to the west of the properties to support the church’s mission and for church related 

activities.   

 

Criteria Point 4: Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be 

consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  
The proposed conditional use development area is not designated on any current or planning resources 

as an existing or potential park/open space area.  The athletic facilities and fields would change the 

character of the NR-1 low density zoning district. The location and character of the proposed 

conditional use would not be consistent with the desirable pattern of development for the locality in 

general due to the desires of the community to enhance the open space and cultural resources that 

currently exists within the City. Open space, parks, playgrounds, athletic fields and pavilions are all 

located within +/-1 mile of the proposed conditional uses. A 17 minute walk (.8 mile) or a 4 minute 

drive (.7 mile) will locate a resident/and or visitor at Milam Park/Soccer Field. A 9 minute walk or 

(.4 miles) a 2 minute drive (.4 mile) will locate a resident and/or visitor at Forty Oaks. A 15 minute 

walk or (.7 mile) a 2 minute drive (.7 mile) will locate a resident and/or visitor at Friendship Forest. 

The Clarkson Community Center also has open space to utilize as a place for exercise and/or 

designated or landscaped for play or sports activities/events which is a (1 mile), a 1 minute drive or 

a (433 feet) walk.  

 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends denial of the conditional use permit request to construct athletic fields, athletic 

facilities on the properties located at 961 Rowland Street and 3673 Hill Street. 

 

Attachments: 

 Conditional Use Permit Application  

 Letter of Intent 

 Warranty Deed 

 Maps  

 Site Plan  

 































































    

 

 

PLANNING & ZONING  BOARD  

MEETING MINUTES 

                 

  

  

 

   AGENDA 

      February 18, 2020 7:00 PM     

    City Hall  

3921 Church Street 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

The meeting was called to order at 7:01 PM. 

 

B. ROLL CALL  

Planning and Zoning Chairman Birendra Dhakal, Amy Medford, Vice- Chairman Charles   

McFarland, Felicia Weinert, Planning and Development Director Shawanna Qawiy  

 

C. APPROVAL OF THE DECEMBER 2019 MEETING MINUTES:  

Charles McFarland made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. Amy Medford seconded the 

motion. A vote was called and the motion carried (3/0). 

 

D. OLD BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: A request from the North American Mission Board of the 

Southern Baptist Convention, Incorporated for a conditional use permit for the 

properties located at 961 Rowland Street and 3673 Hill Street, zoned NR-1, Low 

Density Neighborhood Residential, Clarkston, GA 30021, for the construction of 

athletic fields and other athletic facilities to support the church’s mission and for church 

related activities.  

Shawanna Qawiy gave an overview of the proposed conditional use request with staff’s 

recommendation of denial. Scott Gurosky a representative for the NAMB of the Southern  

Baptist Convention provided a PowerPoint presentation and timeline of the request for the 

conditional use permit.   

 

Birendra Dhakal opened the public hearing.   
 

      OPPOSITION: 

John Beck in opposition of the conditional use permit presented the Board with aerial photos 

of the properties. 

Susan Hood spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit, commended how professionally 

thorough the staffs analysis was written and agreed with staff’s recommendation. 

John Wagner in opposition of the conditional use permit, also objected to the proposed median 

on Hill Street. 

  Rupert Fike spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit.  

  Dean Moore spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit. 

  Carl Sager spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit. 



  Emmanuel Ransom spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit 

Barbara Helms spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit and the PUD development on 

Rowland Street and the increased traffic in the area. 

 

SUPPORT: 

Amina Osman spoke in support of the conditional use permit. 

Sam Abebe as the youth coordinator at the church, spoke in support of the conditional use 

permit. 

Carrie Grace spoke in support of the conditional use permit and spoke about how the children 

in the City need park space to play. 

Emma Cross spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

Ashley Biehimer, works with children also spoke in support of the conditional use permit 

request. 

Robbie Cantino, a physician in the area spoke about obesity, heart disease and in support of 

the conditional use permit request.  

Sean Lindsey a physician in the area, spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

Edward Matterson who works at the church spoke in favor of the conditional use permit 

request. 

Leah Carol spoke in favor of the conditional use permit request and how the proposed location 

of the facilities is a 5-minute walk from her residence. 

Josh Eaton spoke in favor of the conditional use permit request. 

 

Birendra Dhakal closed the public hearing. 

 

Felicia Weinert is not in favor of conditional use permits and acknowledged that they should 

be eliminated in the City’s Ordinance She mentioned that the proposed conditional use permit 

would have a negative impact on the residents that currently live in the neighborhood. 

 

Amy Medford discussed the conditional use permit request and inquired about the use of the 

after schools programs, the size of the fields and whether they would be available for public 

use.   

 

George McCallum representing the NAMB of the Southern Baptist Convention mentioned that 

it is the applicant’s hopes to make arrangements with the City for public use of the proposed 

athletic fields.  

 

The Board had additional discussions.  

  

Charles McFarland made a motion to recommend denial of the conditional use permit request. 

Felicia Weinert seconded the motion.  A vote was called motion carried (2- Yes; Charles 

McFarland, Felecia Weinert/1- No Amy Medford) 

 

E. NEW BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: Abdulkadir Mohamed Dine D/B/A Brava Auto Brokers, has 

submitted a conditional use permit request for the property located at 1352 Brockett 

Road, Clarkston, Georgia 30021, zoned NC-2 Neighborhood Residential-Community 

Development for used car sales, repairs and emissions.  

Shawanna Qawiy gave an overview of the proposed conditional use request with staff’s 

recommendation of denial.  The applicant Abdulkadir Dine provided an overview of the 

conditional use permit request to operate as a used car dealership.    

 

Birendra Dhakal opened the public hearing. 



  

OPPOSITION: 

  Dean Moore spoke in opposition of the conditional use permit. 

 

 SUPPPORT: 

  Emmanuel Ransom spoke in support of the conditional use permit request.  

  Ahmed Kayad spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  Abhed Ali spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  Tahlid Rasamy spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  Mohammad Matar spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  Alhim Abdul spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  Bob Humphrey spoke in support of the conditional use permit request. 

  

Birendra Dhakal closed the public hearing.  

 

The Planning and Zoning Board discussed the conditional use permit  

  

Amy Medford made a motion to table the conditional use permit request until the next Planning 

and Zoning meeting. Felicia Weinert seconded the motion.  A vote was called motion carried 

(3/0) 

 

F. OTHER BUSINESS 

None 

  

G. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Amy Medford made a motion to adjourn. Felecia Weinert seconded the motion. A 

vote was called and the motion carried (3, 0)  

 

Meeting adjourned at 9:20 PM 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEB 25 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  Discuss Charter Review Committee 2nd and Final Report Covering Articles III-Section 3.02 through the end 
of the Charter, Article V-Miscellaneous   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   Council to review/discuss the Charter Review Committee’s second and final report covering Article III-
Section 3.02 - City manager, etc. through the end of the charter, Article V – Miscellaneous.  As a point of 
clarification, the first CRC report noted that it ended with Sec. 3.03.  However, this report includes a recommended 
change to Sec. 3.02.  
 
Proposed changes include expanding the city manager’s duties to add proposing personnel rules (302 (d)(9); 
specifying that municipal court has the authority to enforce the city’s nuisance abatement ordinance (3.06 (h); 
amending the oath of office to delete “So help me God.” (3.11); enhancing fiscal administration through the 
requirement for a city manager’s budget message and procedures for amending appropriations (4.02); and 
enhancing the audit function by specifying the use of a certified public accounting firm, expanding the review of the 
audit report and making the report available to the public (4.05). 
 
In additional to these specific text changes the committee offers the following recommendations. 
 
Create an Ethics Review Committee   
The charter addresses ethics in a limited manner. (Sec. 3.12 and 3.13)  In addition, Clarkston has its own ethics 
ordinance. (Clarkston Code of Ordinances; Article III. Code of Ethics) 
The committee recommends the creation of an Ethics Review Committee comprised of residents appointed by 
elected officials, to review the current ethics ordinance, research model ordinances and best practices, and 
recommend changes that will provide for a stronger, comprehensive ethics ordinance for the city.  
 
Define and standardize terms 
For the sake of clarity and to make it easier to understand which entity has which powers and responsibilities, 
standardize throughout the charter the use of the terms “city council” and “council” when referring to “the mayor 
and six (6) councilmembers,” as defined in Sec. 2.02 (a).  Use the term “council members” when referring to the six 
(6) councilmembers.”   This was a recommendation from the CRC’s first report also. 
 
 
   

ITEM NO:  E2 

ACTION TYPE: 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages:  9 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: CW YT BELL,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



1 
 

Clarkston Charter Review Committee proposed changes. 

 
 
ARTICLE III.- ORGANIZATION AND PERSONNEL  

 
Sec. 3.02. - City manager; appointment; qualifications; compensation; removal; vacancy, 
powers; council interference.  

(a) The city council shall appoint a city manager for an indefinite term and shall fix the city manager's 
compensation. The city manager shall be appointed solely on the basis of that person's executive 
and administrative qualifications.  

(b) The city manager is employed and terminable pursuant to the terms of a written employment 
contract to be entered into between the city and the city manager.  

(c) This section was changed by Ordinance 429 but has not yet been codified.  Below is the 
amended text. 

 The following provisions shall be observed when the city manager is unavailable to perform the 
duties of the office: 

 (1) Acting City Manager. By letter filed with the city clerk, the city manager shall designate, subject to 
rejection by majority vote of the city council, a qualified city employee to exercise the powers and 
perform the duties of city manager during the city manager’s temporary absence or physical or 
mental disability. During such absence or disability, the city council may revoke any such designation 
at any time and may at any time appoint any qualified employee of the city to serve as acting city 
manager. 

 (2) Interim City Manager.  Whenever the city manager position is vacant, or it is anticipated that the 
permanent city manager will be unavailable or unable to perform the duties of city manager for more 
than 10 days, the city council shall appoint and enter into a contract for an indefinite duration with a 
qualified individual to serve as an interim city manager until the City Council appoints a city manager 
on a permanent basis or the existing permanent city manager is able to return to performing the 
duties of city manager.  The Mayor and Councilmembers are prohibited from serving as city manager 
on a permanent, acting or interim basis. 

(d)  The city manager shall be the chief executive and administrative officer of the city. The city manager 
shall be responsible to the city council for the administration of all city affairs placed in the city 
manager's charge by or under this charter. As the chief executive and administrative officer, the city 
manager shall:  

(1) Appoint and, when the city manager deems it necessary for the good of the city, suspend or 
remove all city employees and administrative officers the city manager appoints, except as 
otherwise provided by law or personnel ordinances adopted pursuant to this charter. The city 
manager may authorize any administrative officer who is subject to the city manager's direction 
and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer's 
department, office, or agency;  

(2) Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, officers, and agencies of the city, 
except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law;  

(3) Attend all city council meetings, except for closed meetings held for the purposes of deliberating 
on the appointment, discipline, or removal of the city manager, and have the right to take part in 
discussion, but the city manager may not vote;  

(4) See that all laws, provisions of this charter, and acts of the city council, subject to enforcement 
by the city manager or by officers subject to the city manager's direction and supervision, are 
faithfully executed;  



2 
 

(5) Prepare and submit the annual operating budget and capital budget to the city council. The 
mayor and council members may submit recommendations prior to the city manager's 
submission of these budgets.  

(6) Submit to the city council and make available to the public a complete report on the finances 
and administrative activities of the city as of the end of each fiscal year;  

(7) Make such other reports as the city council may require concerning the operations of city 
departments, offices, and agencies subject to the city manager's direction and supervision;  

(8)  Keep the city council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the city, and 
make such recommendations to the city council concerning the affairs of the city as the city 
manager deems desirable; and 

(9) Propose personnel rules, and the city council may by ordinance adopt them with or 
without amendment.  

(10) Perform other such duties as are specified in this chapter or as may be required by the city 
council. 

(e) Except for the purpose of official investigations, the mayor and members of the city council shall deal 
with city officers and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the city manager 
solely through the city manager, and neither the mayor, the city council nor its members shall give 
orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly or privately. 

 

Recommendation: This addition formalizes the city manager’s role related to personnel rules and 
provides for city council oversight through approval, amendment and adoption of those rules.  

Renumber prior item 9 to item 10.   

Note: The amendment related to acting and interim city manager that the city council enacted has 
not yet been codified by Municode. However, that next text is shown above as Sec. 302 (c). 
Ordinance No. 429, which authorized this amendment, cites Sec. 302 (b) rather than Sec. 302 (c). 

 

Sec. 3.03. - City attorney.  
The mayor and council shall appoint a city attorney, together with such assistant city attorneys as 

may be authorized by ordinance. The city attorney shall be responsible for representing and defending 
the city in all litigation in which the city is a part; may be the prosecuting officer in the municipal court; 
shall attend the meetings of the council as directed; shall advise the council, mayor, and other officers 
and employees of the city concerning legal aspects of the city's affairs; shall approve as to form and 
legality all contracts, deeds, ordinances and resolutions having the force of law. 

 

Sec. 3.04. - Municipal Court—Appointment of judge.  
The City of Clarkston Municipal Court shall be presided over by a qualified judge appointed by the 

city council on an annual basis. Such judge shall receive such compensation as shall be fixed by the city 
council and may be removed by the city council pursuant to standards and procedures established by 
general law.  

Sec. 3.05. - Convening of municipal court.  
The municipal court shall be convened at such times as may be designated by ordinance or at such 

times as deemed necessary by the municipal court judge to dispose of the business of the court or both. 
The court shall sit at Clarkston City Hall or at such other place within the City of Clarkston as may be 
designated by the city council from time to time by resolution.  

Sec. 3.06. - Municipal court jurisdiction and powers. 

(a) The municipal court shall try and punish violators for crimes defined by state law where jurisdiction 
over the prosecution of such crimes is conveyed to the municipal court by general law and shall try 



3 
 

and punish violators for violation of city ordinances. Where state law or the applicable city ordinance 
does not fix the punishment for an offense, the municipal court may fix punishment for offenses 
within its jurisdiction not exceeding a fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisonment for six 
(6) months, or both.  

(b) The municipal court shall have authority to punish those in its presence, or so near thereto as to 
affect its operation, for contempt.  

(c) The municipal court shall have authority to establish a schedule of fees to defray the cost of 
operation and shall be entitled to reimbursement of the cost of meals, transportation and caretaking 
of prisoners bound over to state or superior courts for violation of state law.  

(d) The municipal court shall have authority to establish bail and recognizance to insure the presence of 
those charged with violations and may prescribe the conditions for forfeiture of the same.  

(e) The municipal court shall have authority to administer oaths and perform all other acts necessary or 
proper to the conduct of said court.  

(f) The municipal court shall have the authority to bind prisoners over to the appropriate court when it 
appears that a state law has been violated.  

(g) The municipal court may compel the presence of all parties necessary to a proper disposal of each 
case by the issuance of summons, subpoena and warrants which may be served as executed by any 
officer so authorized by this charter or by state law. 

(h) The municipal court shall have the authority to enforce Clarkston’s nuisance abatement 
ordinance. 

Recommendation: Add reference to Clarkston’s nuisance abatement ordinance which 
gives jurisdiction in this matter to municipal court. 

Sec. 3.07. - Municipal court records.  
The city manager shall appoint a municipal court clerk who shall serve at the pleasure of the city 

manager. The municipal court clerk shall be responsible for keeping such records of proceedings of the 
municipal court as shall be necessary to a full understanding of the charge, evidence and disposition of 
each case that comes before the municipal court.  

Sec. 3.08. - Certiorari to the municipal court.  
Certiorari from the Superior Court of DeKalb County to the Municipal Court of Clarkston shall lie 

pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 5-4-1 et seq.  

Sec. 3.09. - Reserved.  

Sec. 3.10. - Other officers and employees.  
The city manager may establish such offices and positions of employment within the city as may be 

necessary and appropriate for the effective and efficient administration of the city's affairs.  

Sec. 3.11. - Oath of office.  
Before a person takes any office in the city government, he or she shall take before an officer of this 

state, authorized to administer oaths, the following oath or affirmation:  

"I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States and of the State 
of Georgia; that I will in all respects, observe the provisions of the charter and ordinances of the City of 
Clarkston, and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of ____________ .” So help me God." 

Recommendation: Correct gender reference; remove “So help me God.” 

 
Sec. 3.12. - Political activity prohibited; unpaid leave of absence.  

No officer or employee of the city, other than the mayor and council members, shall continue in the 
employment of the city after becoming a candidate for nomination or election to any city or other public 



4 
 

office, unless such officer or employee shall first obtain, by resolution of the city council, a grant of unpaid 
leave status for the duration of such candidacy. 

Sec. 3.13. - Personal financial interest.  
Any city officer or employee who has a substantial financial interest, direct or indirect or by reason of 

ownership of stock in any corporation, in any contract with the city or in the sale of any land, material, 
supplies or services to the city or to a contractor supplying the city shall make known that interest and 
shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating in his capacity as a city officer or employee in the 
making of such sale or in the making or performance of such contract. Any city officer or employee who 
willfully conceals such a substantial financial interest or wilfully violates the requirements of this section 
shall be guilty of malfeasance in office or position and shall forfeit his office or position. Violation of this 
section with the knowledge express or implied of the person or corporation contracting with or making a 
sale to the city shall render the contract or sale voidable by the mayor or the city council.  

Sec. 3.14. - City planning and renewal.  
The council may by ordinance establish a planning department, appoint a director, planning board, 

and board of adjustments to advise, formulate and effect a comprehensive plan and modifications thereof 
for the physical development of the city, and by ordinance adopt land use and development regulations, 
including but not limited to an official map, zoning and subdivision regulations, and provide for 
redevelopment, rehabilitation, conservation and renewal programs for: (1) the alleviation or prevention of 
slums, obsolescence, blight or other conditions of deterioration, and (2) the achievement of the most 
appropriate use of land as now or hereafter may be provided by the general laws of Georgia.  

 
ARTICLE IV. - FISCAL ADMINISTRATION 

Sec. 4.01. - Fiscal year.  
The fiscal year of the city government shall begin on the first day of January and shall end on the 

thirty-first day of December of each year, but a different fiscal year may be fixed by ordinance for the 
entire city government or for any utility. 

 Sec. 4.02. - City manager to submit annual budget, including a budget message; 
procedures for appropriation amendments.  

(1) On or before a date fixed by the city council, but not later than forty-five (45) days prior to the 
beginning of each fiscal year, the city manager shall submit to the city council a proposed budget for the 
next fiscal year, showing separately for the general fund, each utility, and each other fund the following: (i) 
revenues and expenditures during the preceding fiscal year, (ii) appropriations and estimated revenues 
and expenditures for the current fiscal year, (iii) estimated revenues and recommended expenditures for 
the next fiscal year, (iv) a comparative statement of the assets, liabilities, reserves, and surplus at the end 
of the preceding year and estimated assets, liabilities, reserves, and surplus at the end of the current 
fiscal year, and (v) such other information and data as may be considered necessary by the city manager 
or requested by the city council.  

(2) Budget Message 
The City Manager’s message shall explain the budget both in fiscal terms and in terms of the work 
programs.  It shall outline the proposed financial policies of the city for the ensuing fiscal year, 
describe the important features of the budget, indicate any major changes from the current year in 
fiscal policies, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons for such changes, 
summarize the city’s debt position and include such other material as the City Manager deems 
desirable. 

(3) Amendments After Adoption 
 (a)  Supplemental Appropriations.  If during the fiscal year the City Manager certifies that 
there are available for appropriation revenues in excess of those estimated in the budget, the city 
council by ordinance may make supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount of 
such excess. 



5 
 

 (b)  Emergency Appropriations.  To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, 
property or the public peace, the city council may make emergency appropriations.  Such 
appropriations may be made by emergency ordinance.  To the extent that there are no available 
unappropriated revenues to meet such appropriations, the city council may by such emergency 
ordinance authorize the issuance of emergency notes which may be renewed from time to time, 
but the emergency notes and renewals of any fiscal year shall be paid not later than the last day of 
the fiscal year next succeeding that in which the emergency appropriation was made. 

 (c)  Reduction of Appropriations.  If at any time during the fiscal year it appears probable 
to the city manager that the revenues available will be insufficient to meet the amount 
appropriated, the city manager shall report to city council without delay, indicating the estimated 
amount of the deficit, any remedial action taken by the city manager and recommendations as to 
any other steps to be taken.  The city council shall then take such further action as it deems 
necessary to prevent or minimize any deficit, and for that purpose it may by ordinance reduce one 
or more appropriations. 

 (d) Transfer of Appropriations.  At any time during the fiscal year the city manager may 
transfer part or all of any unencumbered appropriation balance among programs within a 
department, office or agency and, upon written request by the city manager the city council may 
by ordinance transfer part or all of any unencumbered appropriation balance from one 
department, office or agency to another. 

 (e) Limitations; Effective Date.  No appropriation for debt service may be reduced or 
transferred, and no appropriation may be reduced below any amount required by law to be 
appropriated, or by more than the amount of the unencumbered balance thereof.  The 
supplemental and emergency appropriations, and reduction or transfer of appropriations 
authorized by this section may be made effective immediately upon adoption. 
 
 

Recommendation: Strengthen fiscal administration by including the city manager’s 
budget message and by establishing procedures for amending appropriations. 

 

Sec. 4.03. - Action by council on budget.  
Before the beginning of the ensuing fiscal year the council shall adopt an appropriate ordinance, 

based on the city manager's budget, with such modifications as the council considers necessary or 
desirable. Appropriations need not be in more detail than a lump sum for each department and agency. 
The council shall not make any appropriations in excess of estimated revenue, except to provide for an 
actual emergency threatening the health, property or lives of the inhabitants of the city; providing the 
council unanimously agrees that there is such an emergency. If conditions prevent the adoption of an 
appropriation ordinance, before the beginning of the new fiscal year, the appropriations for the last fiscal 
year shall become the appropriations for the new fiscal year, subject to amendment as provided by an 
ordinance specifically passed for such purpose.  

Sec. 4.04. - Sale of city property.  
The city council may authorize the sale of any city property which is deemed obsolete, surplus or 

unusable. Such sale shall be accomplished pursuant to the procedures set forth in general law for the 
sale of municipal property.  

Sec. 4.05. - Annual audit.  
The mayor and council members may shall employ a public accountant or a certified public 

accountant accounting firm to make an annual audit of all financial books and records of the city. The 
accountant shall file his report with the mayor, at a time agreed to between him and the mayor, and shall 
prepare a summary of the report which shall be furnished or made available to the mayor and every 
councilman.  The accounting firm shall file and present its report to the mayor, council members 
and city manager at a time established by the mayor and council members.  The audit shall be 
made available to the public. 



6 
 

 

Recommendation: Enhance the audit function by specifying the use of a certified public 

accounting firm.  Expand the review of the audit findings and require that the audit be 

available to the public. 

 

Sec. 4.06. - Property taxes.  
All property subject to taxation for state or county purposes shall be subject to a property tax levied 

by the city. All such taxable property shall be appraised and assessed in accordance with general law and 
property owners shall have a right to appeal tax assessments as provided for by general law.  

Sec. 4.07. - Tax levy.  
The city council shall make a tax levy by establishing an annual millage rate as provided for by 

general law.  

Sec. 4.08. - Tax due date and tax bills.  
The due date of property taxes shall be fixed by ordinance. The city, or its designee, shall send tax 

bills to taxpayers, showing the assessed valuations, amount of taxes due, tax due dates, and information 
as to delinquency dates and penalties. Failure to send tax bills shall not, however, invalidate any tax. 
Property taxes shall become delinquent forty-five (45) days after a due date; at which time a penalty not 
to exceed ten (10) percent in additional to a fi. fa. charge shall be added and thereafter such taxes shall 
be subject to interest at the rate of twelve (12) percent per annum, from the due date until paid. On and 
after the date when such taxes become delinquent, the tax records of the city shall have the force and 
effect of a judgment of a court of record.  

The city clerk is directed to post notice of this change in the legal organ of DeKalb County, Georgia 
once a week for three (3) weeks prior to the April meeting of the city council. This ordinance amending 
the Charter of the City of Clarkston shall become effective upon passage at two (2) regular consecutive 
meetings of the city council and upon providing notice of this change to the Clerk of the Superior Court of 
DeKalb County, Georgia and to the Secretary of State of the State of Georgia as provided by law. All 
delinquent taxes incurred prior to passage of this amendment shall be governed by prior law. This 
amendment shall apply prospectively only.  

Sec. 4.09. - Collection of delinquent taxes.  
The council may provide by ordinance for the collection of delinquent taxes by distress warrants 

issued by the mayor for the sale of goods and chattels, which are to be executed by any police officer of 
the city under the same procedure provided by the laws governing execution of such process from a 
justice of the peace, or by the city attorney acting in accordance with general laws providing for the 
collection of delinquent city or county taxes, or by any two (2) or more of the foregoing methods, and by 
the use of any other available legal processes and remedies. A lien shall exist against all property on 
which city property taxes are levied, as of the assessment day of the first day of January of each year, 
which shall be superior to all other liens except that it shall have equal dignity with those for Federal, 
State or County taxes. 

Sec. 4.10. - Transfer of executions [for assessments].  
The marshal or collecting officer of the City of Clarkston shall be authorized to transfer and assign 

any fi. fa. or execution issued for street, sewer or any other assessment in the same manner, upon the 
same terms, and to the same effect, and thereby vest the purchaser or transferer with the same rights as 
in cases of sales or transfers of tax fi. fas. as now provided by law; and all sales of property hereafter 
made under execution in behalf of the city for the collection of street, sewer and other assessments, the 
owner or owners, as the case may be, are authorized to redeem same within the same time and on 
compliance with the same terms and payment of the same premium, interest and costs, as in cases of 
redemption of property where sold under tax fi. fa., as the same now exists, or as may from time to time 
be provided by law.  



7 
 

Sec. 4.11. - Special assessments.  

The city may assess all or part of the cost of constructing, reconstructing, widening, or improving any 
public way, sewers, or other utility mains and appurtenances, against the abutting property owners, under 
such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by ordinance. Such special assessments shall become 
delinquent thirty (30) days after their due dates, shall thereupon be subject, in addition to fi. fa. charges, 
to a penalty of ten (10) percent and shall thereafter be subject to interest at the rate of seven (7) percent 
per annum from due date until paid. A lien shall exist the abutting property superior to all other liens, 
except that it shall be of equal dignity with liens for county and city property taxes, and said lien shall be 
enforceable by the same procedures and under the same remedies as provided in this article for city 
property taxes. 

 

ARTICLE V. – MISCELLANEOUS 

Sec. 5.01—5.03. - Reserved.  

Sec. 5.04. - Severability.  
If any article, section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, or part thereof, of this Act shall be held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect or impair other parts of this 
Act, unless it clearly appears that such other parts are wholly and necessarily dependent upon the part or 
parts held to be invalid or unconstitutional, it being the legislative intent in enacting this Act that each 
article, section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, or part thereof, be enacted separately and 
independently of each other. 

Sec. 5.05. - Specific repealer.  
An Act creating a new charter for the City of Clarkston in the County of DeKalb, approved August 12, 

1914 (Ga. L. 1914, p. 578—615) is hereby repealed in its entirety, and all amendatory Acts thereto are 
likewise repealed in their entirety. 

Sec. 5.06. - Effective date.  
This Act shall be effective on and after the first day of May, 1967. 

Sec. 5.07. - Repealer.  
All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are hereby repealed.  

 



 

 

          June 25, 2019 

 

Clarkston City Council 

Clarkston, GA 

 

Dear Council Members: 

Attached is the second and final report from the Charter Review Committee, covering Article III-

Section 3.02 - City manager, etc. through the end of the charter, Article V – Miscellaneous.  As a 

point of clarification, the first CRC report noted that it ended with Sec. 3.03.  However, this 

report includes a recommended change to Sec. 3.02.  

Proposed changes include expanding the city manager’s duties to add proposing personnel rules 

(302 (d)(9); specifying that municipal court has the authority to enforce the city’s nuisance 

abatement ordinance (3.06 (h); amending the oath of office to delete “So help me God.” (3.11); 

enhancing fiscal administration through the requirement for a city manager’s budget message 

and procedures for amending appropriations (4.02); and enhancing the audit function by 

specifying the use of a certified public accounting firm, expanding the review of the audit report 

and making the report available to the public (4.05). 

In additional to these specific text changes the committee offers the following recommendations. 

 

Create an Ethics Review Committee   

The charter addresses ethics in a limited manner. (Sec. 3.12 and 3.13)  In addition, Clarkston has 

its own ethics ordinance. (Clarkston Code of Ordinances; Article III. Code of Ethics) 

The committee recommends the creation of an Ethics Review Committee comprised of residents 

appointed by elected officials, to review the current ethics ordinance, research model ordinances 

and best practices, and recommend changes that will provide for a stronger, comprehensive 

ethics ordinance for the city.  

 

Define and standardize terms 

For the sake of clarity and to make it easier to understand which entity has which powers and 

responsibilities, standardize throughout the charter the use of the terms “city council” and 

“council” when referring to “the mayor and six (6) councilmembers,” as defined in Sec. 2.02 (a).  

Use the term “council members” when referring to the six (6) councilmembers.”   This was a 

recommendation from the CRC’s first report also. 

  



Members of the CRC would like to acknowledge the valuable assistance provided by city staff 

including Tracy Ashby, City Clerk and Robin Gomez, City Manager, as well as Stephen Quinn, 

City Attorney.  We greatly appreciate your support and guidance. 

Please let us know if you have questions about this report and if you would like a presentation of 

these recommendations. 

Sincerely, 

 

Susan Hood, Chair 

Brian Medford, Co-chair 

YT Bell, City Council Member 

Warren Hadlock 

Dean Moore 

Emanuel Ransom 

Traci Turgeon 

Mario Williams, City Council Member

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
MEETING DATE: FEB 25, 2020 

 
 

SUBJECT:  Clarkston Residents Speak Program - Presentations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE:   
At the October 29, 2019, Council Worksession the Council heard a presentation about a proposed pilot program for 2020 
called Clarkston Residents Speak.  We will be hearing from 4 Clarkston residents speaking in Arabic to inaugurate the 
Clarkston Resident Speaks program.  The 4 speakers are:  Heba Salem, Shaymaa Al Araji, Khadjija Al Jumaah, and Muna Al 
Naddaf.   
   
The City of Clarkston welcomes community participation in City Council meetings.  However, few residents who speak a 
language other than English attend. These Clarkston residents have limited opportunities to share their experiences, needs, 
and ideas with City Council members. There are a number of different strategies to truly engage residents in city matters. 
Refugee Women’s Network and CDF Action are proposing one idea: to engage residents in a six-month pilot, “Residents 
Speak.” 
 
At each of six monthly City of Clarkston Council Work Sessions, the first 15 minutes would be dedicated to “Residents 
Speak,” a time when up to four residents, each speaking three minutes, share an experience, a need, and/or an idea about 
a city issue, such as housing, parks, youth or child care issues, pedestrian safety, city events, or other items relating to living 
in the City of Clarkston.   
 
The residents will be invited to speak in their own language with an interpreter or in English. A different language will be 
selected for each of the six meetings   Council members will be invited to ask the residents’ questions following their 
presentations.  After the presentations, the residents will be invited to attend the meeting, to hear the discussions, with an 
interpreter sitting next to them (or use head-sets for simultaneous translation).  Child care/children’s activities will be held 
in the foyer for the children of those residents who speak. 
Refugee Women’s Network and CDF Action will coordinate the pilot, partnering with other ethnic organizations to: (l) 
recruit, train, and assist residents with transportation; (2) secure an interpreter for each of the work sessions; (3) 
summarize the presentations after each meeting and share with Council; (4) notify each of the 24 resident participants of 
future City of Clarkston meetings and events and encourage attendance/participation; (5) evaluate the pilot, with the City 
and residents. 
 
Proposed Budget:  $4,880, incorporated into 2020 City Budget 

• Coordination (recruitment, orientation, logistics day of meeting, evaluation, and reporting) - $2,000 ($l,000 each CDF 
Action and Refugee Women’s Network).   RWN will serve as the fiscal agent for this pilot. 

• Outreach and Interpretation for six meetings:  $250 x 6 meetings - $1,500. 
• Child care for six meetings (materials, light refreshments, child care workers): $780 
• Incentives for residents who participate, presented to residents upon receipt of their written evaluation of the experience: 

$25 gift card x 24 participants - $600 

For more information:  CDF Action, Roberta Malavenda, roberta@cdfaction.org; Refugee Women’s Network, Sushma 
Barakoti, director@riwn.org 
 
NEED/IMPACT:  To encourage additional City of Clarkston resident attendance and participation at City Council Meetings.   

ITEM NO:  E3 

ACTION TYPE: 
PRESENTATION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES    NO   
Pages:   
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

mailto:roberta@cdfaction.org
mailto:director@riwn.org


CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: February 25, 2020 
 
SUBJECT:  Discussion Concerning Appointments to Standing Advisory Committees 

 

 
 

 
 
 
PURPOSE:    
To discuss approving a Resolution Concerning Appointments to the 2020 Standing Advisory Committees  
 

NEED/ IMPACT:  
The Clarkston City Council adopted Standing Advisory Committees in February 2018 to provide a mechanism to 
study and formulate policy recommendations that will benefit the community and to engage members of the public 
in the process of formulating and studying policy recommendations. 
 

The Clarkston City Council needs to make member appointment in 2020 for the Standing Advisory Committees. The 
current membership appointments are reflected below: 
 

Public Safety and Legal Committee 
Chair: Vacant 
Vacant 
Jamie Carroll 
 

Housing and Infrastructure Committee 
Chair: Jamie Carroll 
Vacant 
Vacant 
 

Community Development Committee 
Chair: YT Bell 
Mayor Ted Terry 
 

Budget and Finance Committee 
Chair: Ahmed Hassan 
Mayor Ted Terry 
 

Transportation and Environment Committee 
Chair: Awet Eyasu  
Vacant 
Mayor Ted Terry 
 

Marketing and Civic Innovation Committee 
Chair: Vacant 
YT Bell 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  No Staff recommendation.   

ITEM NO: E4 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Council 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 1 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

CONTACT INFORMATION: YT Bell & Jamie Carroll 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   







CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEB 25, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  CLARKSTON DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CDA) APPOINTMENT   

 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   To continue appointing remaining members of the Clarkston Development Authority (CDA). The seven 
(7) member board will begin the process to develop strategies for the revitalization and redevelopment of the 
central business district by financing projects under Clarkston-specific Redevelopment Authorities Law that will 
develop and promote current and new trade, commerce, industry, and employment opportunities to further 
enhance the public good and the general welfare of the City of Clarkston.  On February 13, 2017, the Clarkston City 
Council adopted a Resolution requesting the Georgia Legislature to create the Clarkston DA, specifically to define its 
purpose and powers, to determine the process and criteria by which members are appointed, to determine the 
process by which officers (President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer) are elected for other purposes to foster 
and encourage redevelopment and development throughout the City including the central business district.  On 
March 22, 2017, the Georgia Legislature adopted a special act (Act No. 134, House Bill 563), creating the CDA that 
was formally approved and signed into law by the Georgia Governor on May 3, 2017.   
 
Specifically the Act allows for the Clarkston DA to exercise various powers to further downtown redevelopment and 
development, including:  make/execute contracts, agreements or other for construction, leases of projects, 
contracts for sale of projects, agreements for loans to finance projects; acquire by purchase, lease, or other real and 
personal property; finance via loan, grant, lease, or other, demolish, erect, assemble, rehabilitate, improve, etc., 
borrow money; issue revenue bonds; obtain other governmental grants, loans, or other arrangements; contract with 
other governments to use facilities or services for a period of up to 50 years; extend credit or make loans for project 
costs; receive and use tax proceeds for project costs; appoint, select, employ various professionals including 
engineers, architects, urban/city planners, etc. 
 
Both the City Resolution and the GA Legislative Act detail the number of board members, seven (7), their 
composition, how they are to be appointed, the terms of service, and that an Organizing Resolution setting by-laws 
and terms of office for members would need Council adoption.  The CDA shall be comprised of seven (7) members 
as follows:   
 
a. Two (2) members shall either be a taxpayer residing in the City or a taxpayer residing in DeKalb County who 

owns or operates a business located within the City’s downtown development area 
b. Two (2) members shall be taxpayers residing in DeKalb County who possess specific knowledge or professional 

expertise in the field of banking, finance, real estate development, community development or another area of 
expertise related to economic development. 

c. Three (3) members shall be members of the governing authority of Clarktson (City Council).   
 
The Mayor will appoint 2 members and the City Council will appoint the other 2 members.  Terms will be for four (4) 
years.   
 
At the December 3, 2019, Clarkston City Council Meeting, Clarkston residents Doug Guess and Emanuel Ransom 

ITEM NO:  E5 

ACTION TYPE: 
CDA APPOINTMENT 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages: 4 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:     Y T BELL,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



along with Council members Y T Bell and Awet Eyasu were appointed to the CDA.   
 
Three additional application have been received by the City for the Council to consider appointing: 
Kevin Kifler 
Joseph Evans 
Kelly James 

  

 



Kevin Kipfer 
 

krkipfer@gmail.com    ●   cell: (678) 759-9664   ●   home address: 3734 Carroll Park Drive, Clarkston, GA 30021 
 

SUMMARY 

Experienced and successful professional in leading transformational change in a variety of corporate, nonprofit and community 
environments. Trusted advisor to executive leaders, impact investors and venture philanthropists to utilize transformational investments 
in achieving significant growth and change.  
 

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS 

 Led a global initiative to grow Habitat for Humanity’s team of influential champions and leadership givers to raise significant 
funding to execute the new strategic plan, including the launch of the Shelter Venture Fund for innovative and scalable shelter 
solutions. Global team raised over $50M in first two years of initiative. 

 Global lead to equip a team of change agents in empowering leadership during a transformational change required for the new 
strategy rollout across a $2 billion movement. 

 Chaired the board of directors for a community-based nonprofit through a 4X growth phase leading to solid infrastructure, a high-
caliber board and leadership team, solid resource development function and a significant increase in community impact.  

 Launched operations in a new country for an international organization. Built a 30-person team including quality national 
leadership, sustainable structure and processes, with governmental, community, corporate and NGO partners in place to empower 
over 100 vulnerable women and children each week through business development and aftercare counseling. 

 Led consulting team in reorganization effort to transform a division of 1,300 employees to increase effectiveness and efficiency. 

 Lead engineer in transformation of a production facility using lean principles that resulted in a 40% decrease in cycle time and 10% 
reduction in labor and material cost.  

 

PROFESSIONAL SKILLS SUMMARY 

Executive coaching & facilitation  
Strategy development & execution 
Budget & operational planning 
Partnership development 

Change management 
Lean Six Sigma 
Board development  
Nonprofit management 

Major donor program development 
Venture philanthropy  
Community development 
Partial list, all skills are not listed 

 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Comcon Inc. – Community-focused consulting 
President 

Clarkston, GA  
2018-Present 

 Launched a consulting firm, serving as a trusted adviser to missional organizations and investors in achieving transformational 
growth. 

 Providing consultation to a portfolio of community-based organizations through board development, strategy development and 
execution, funding portfolio planning, growth strategies, succession planning and leadership transition.  

 Clients have successfully: recruited and transitioned to a new senior leader, achieved 2X revenue growth in first year of a new 
strategy, and closed a capital campaign totaling two times their annual budget.   

 Facilitated multiple workshops for a $2 billion NGO to clarify and execute their vision for a new transformational change. These 
workshops including the top 20 executive leaders and global thought leaders.  

 

Habitat for Humanity – Non-Governmental Organization (NGO), International Housing 
Director, Habitat Development Council 

 
Atlanta, GA  

2011-2018 
 Led a new global major donor initiative that raised $50M in the first two years of existence, including a $15M investment to launch 

a social venture fund investing in innovative and scalable shelter ventures globally.   

 Managed relationships with several of Habitat’s core donors, including a giver who pledged $100M. 

 Directly partnering with and stewarding members of Habitat’s international board of directors and key champions that include multi-
million dollar donors, government & community leaders, key advocates for global shelter and other key global influencers  

 Building and leading a global team of 10 leadership gift officers and staff in cultivating and securing significant new multi-year 
pledges. Team members were based in and served strategic global market including: Hong Kong, Singapore, Philippines, India, 
Indonesia, Great Britain, Brazil, Mexico and Central America.  

 Managing a support team to develop annual plans, operational and executive progress reporting, internal and external 
communications, global knowledge sharing, among several other key projects supporting the overall initiative. 

 

  

mailto:krkipfer@gmail.com


Strategy & Organizational Change Sr. Consultant 

 Recruited to Habitat’s core team of internal leaders and external consultants to develop the 2020 global strategy for the Habitat 
movement, including over 1,300 US affiliates and 70 country programs representing over $2 Billion in annual revenue.  

 Global lead for a cross-functional team from Habitat’s Headquarters and Areas Offices in the development of best practices and 
capacity building for strategy and change management. 

 Facilitated CEO & senior leadership decision making on strategy execution and transformational change. 

 Managed sponsor and change lead training, cross-functional collaboration of major organizational strategic initiatives. 
 
Country Director / Director of Microenterprise & Economic Development 
Loving Shepherd International – NGO focusing on vulnerable groups internationally  

 
Addis Ababa, Ethiopia  

2009-2011 
 Built a multi-cultural team of 30 experienced professionals working with orphans, vulnerable children and exploited women 

 Cultivated, solicited, and/or stewarded individual, church and foundation relationships to fund and grow programmatic goals, 
including several five- and six-figure gifts or grants.  

 Led collaboration with community partners, government organizations, partner NGO’s, LSI USA leadership and funders on issues 
and projects related to our common missions 

 Scaled NGO operations from startup to a high-performing team with significant community impact – including establishing strategic 
& project planning and agreements, and creating human resource, financial, and operational systems  

 Launched small business startup for empowerment of women through income generation.  Partnered with World Vision’s 
VisionFund International for microfinance support. 

 
Project Manager / Senior Business Consultant  
CGN Global – Business Transformation Consulting  

Peoria, IL  
2007-2009 

Caterpillar Inc. 

 Global Sourcing Division: Managed multiple cost reduction projects for the Six Sigma Strategic Sourcing initiative, including 
supplier engagement and negotiation on a product spend of $100M. Delivered nearly 2% savings on portfolio.  

 New Product Introductions: Led a cross-functional team through process for New Product Introductions and Advanced Product 
Quality Planning, collaborating with multiple suppliers, both domestic and international, on product design and manufacturing 
processes.  

 
State Farm Insurance Company, Special Investigative Unit Structure Study – Lead Consultant & Project Manager 
Project Manager for team of consultants, subject matter expertise and State Farm directors to advise executive leadership on strategic 
direction for the 1,300 employee division regarding process improvement, organizational structure, executive metrics and balanced 
scorecard development, and budget/cost analysis 
 
Secondary Educator 
Teach For America & Atlanta Public Schools   

            Atlanta, GA 
2004-2007 

Liaison between Teach For America and school site to guide engagement; grade team leader and classroom teacher helping students 
exceed established targets by nearly 10% for achievement on state standardized tests 
 
Process Engineer  
Smith Bros. of Berne, Inc. – Upholstered Furniture Manufacturer    

Berne, IN  
1999-2004 

Managed multiple process improvement projects implemented lean principles throughout operations of a $50M+ company. Increasingly 
involved in setting strategic and operating goals, while growing as trusted adviser to CEO on sales, costing, productivity and strategy.  
 

EDUCATION  

 Bachelor of Science, Industrial Engineering - Honors Program, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, 1999 

 Master of Business Administration, Indiana Institute of Technology, Fort Wayne, IN, 2003 

 Master of Arts in Intercultural Studies, Columbia International University, Columbia, SC, 2017 
 

PART-TIME & VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE 

 Friends of Refugees, Chairman of the Board of Directors and other various roles (2014-current) 

 Habitat for Humanity Dekalb Co., Clarkston Focus Neighborhood steering committee, Clarkston, GA (2015-2016) 

 Various roles including Entrepreneur Mentor, Start.ME Accelerator Program partnering with Village Capital & Emory’s Goizueta 
Business School, Clarkston, GA (2013-2019) 

 Adjunct Faculty – Community Development & Leadership, Evangelical Theological College, Addis Ababa (2010-2011) 

 Adjunct Faculty – Business Administration, Midstate College, Peoria, IL (2007-2009) 



DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY APPLICATION 

APPLICATION CRITERIA: 
CDA to exercise various powers to further downtown redevelopment and development, including:  
make/execute contracts, agreements or other for construction, leases of projects, contracts for sale 
of projects, agreements for loans to finance projects; acquire by purchase, lease, or other real and 
personal property; finance via loan, grant, lease, or other, demolish, erect, assemble, rehabilitate, 
improve, etc., projects and to pay the cost of said projects from proceeds of revenue bonds, notes, or 
other obligation or funds of the DDA; borrow money; issue revenue bonds; obtain other 
governmental grants, loans, or other arrangements; contract with other governments to use facilities 
or services for a period of up to 50 years; extend credit or make loans for project costs; receive and 
use tax proceeds for project costs; appoint, select, employ various professionals including engineers, 
architects, urban/city planners, etc. 

The Authority shall be comprised of seven (7) Members as follows: 
A. Two (2) Members shall either be a taxpayer residing in the City of Clarkston or a taxpayer
residing in DeKalb County who owns or operates a business located within the City’ downtown
development are.

B. Two (2) members shall be taxpayers residing in DeKalb County who possess specific knowledge
or professional expertise in the field of banking, finance, real estate development, community
development or another area of expertise related to economic development.

C. Three (3) members shall be members of the governing authority of Clarkston.

The Mayor will appoint 2 members and the City Council will appoint the other 2 members.  Terms 
will be for Four (4) years.   

APPLICATION SUBMISSION: 
Mail or e-mail  completed application to: 

Downtown Development Authority Application 
City of Clarkston 
1055 Rowland Street 
Clarkston, Georgia 30021 

Email application to  the City Clerk: 
tashby@cityofclarkston.com 
Phone: 404-296-6489 



                                          Clarkston Downtown Development Authority                                 Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY APPLICATION 

First Name: Last Name: 

Home Address: Years in Clarkston: 

Phone Number: Cell Home E-mail: 
 

 
  

 
 

Work (if applicable) Company: Title: 

Work Phone Number: E-mail: 

Business Name (If applying as Business Owner in Downtown Area): Owner: 

Business Address Issued License Number: 

 
 
List your Background, Experience, and number of years (Planning Professional – 4yr, Architecture – 2 yr, Finance 
– 2 yr, etc): 

 

 

 

Please explain why you are, interested in serving on the Downtown Development Authority. Be sure to 
include any pertinent professional and/or community experience. 

 

 

Are you willing and available to attend training sessions on-site and/or off-site if provided by the City? 

    □        Yes      □        No 

  

 

Joseph Evans III

1717 Wilma Drive, Atlanta, GA 30344 N/A

301-535-9884 Joseph@EvanAlexanderGrooming.com

Evan Alexander Grooming Chief Operating Officer

Same Same

I currently serve as the Chief Operating Officer for Evan Alexander Grooming. In the role as COO, I oversee the financial 
management of the organization, manage the annual budget, ensure that targets are met, risk is mitigated, and policies are in 
place to assure accountability of all funds, physical assets etc. In my previous role as Vice President of Real Estate Development, 
I was responsible for the origination of multifamily development opportunities and the establishment and management of strategic 
relationships throughout Georgia and the southeastern region of the country. Prior to joining KCG, I worked for Columbia 
Residential, a national real estate development firm. I served as a Real Estate Development Manager overseeing all phases of 
development for new construction and rehab projects, including: conducting feasibility analysis, obtaining entitlement and local 
approvals, developing and maintaining proformas, securing all financing, and managing the design and construction phases. I 
managed the development process from start to finish; from site acquisition to conceptual design, funding to construction, and 
lease-up to site stabilization. (resume attached)

Im interested in serving on the Downtown Development Authority because I want to create positive 
change in the greater metropolitan area. I have a diverse background in commercial real estate and 
feel I could add value to the team. I understand the complexities of creating new businesses and 
buildings while respecting the need for affordable housing inclusion. My previous experience in Real 
Estate Development has exposed me to a number of government programs geared towards the 
development of affordable housing units, community centers, retail centers etc. 

✔

✔



 Clarkston Downtown Development Authority   Page 3 of 3 

**Please attach your resume with this application.** 

I understand that I am applying for appointment to a Commission office for the City of Clarkston; that the 
appointing authority may require an interview prior to consideration for appointment; that if appointed, I 
will be required to uphold the City’s charter and ordinances; that I may be removed from office for any 
reason permitted by law or City charter. I agree to comply at all times with all requirements of the office 
for which I am applying and to which I may be appointed. All statements and information provided in this 
application are true to the best of my knowledge. 

Applicant's Signature: Date: 
11/21/2019



1 
 

      Joseph E. Evans, III 
(301) 535-9884  

Joseph.EvansIII@gmail.com 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
EXPERIENCE 
Chief Operating Officer       April 2019 – Present 
Evan Alexander Grooming 
 

• Drives excellence and efficiency across all operational functions including product 
development, accounting, finance, facilities and legal  

• Develops and sustains manufacturing strategy for all manufacturing assets to ensure 
company’s objectives are met in areas of safety, quality, profitability, and waste reduction 

• Develops and implements capital spending plans that meet the ongoing needs for facilities, 
equipment, productivity, operations etc. 

• Manages and develops strategic relationships with suppliers, manufactures, lenders and 
government agencies 

• Develops and leads the implementation of the organizations long-term strategic plan  
• Oversees the financial management of the organization, manages the annual budget, 

ensuring that targets are met, risk is mitigated, and policies are in place to assure 
accountability of all funds, physical assets, and other property 

• Maintains the accuracy and integrity of financial information, reporting and disclosure 
requirements  

• Protects the legal interests of the organization, upholds and maintains compliance with the 
law; retains and works with outside counsel to obtain opinions or handle claims and 
litigation 

 
Vice President of Real Estate Development    January 2019 – April 2019 
KCG Companies 

  
• Led, managed and monitored general contractors in the construction and successful 

completion of multifamily projects 
• Led, managed and monitored design teams on ground-up development and construction of 

multifamily projects 
• Worked with cities and municipalities in obtaining design and construction approvals for 

new development and rehabilitation projects  
• Developed and implemented the growth strategy for the Southeastern region of the country  
• Lead the efforts of the southeastern development team to identify and acquire land for new 

build construction and/or the purchase of existing communities  
• Established and maintained key external partnerships to facilitate the identification, award, 

acquisition and new build of multifamily projects  
• Ensured quality/consistency regarding various originator activities such as loan 

applications; HUD pre-pay applications; tax credit applications; and acquisition due 
diligence review etc.  

• Worked cross functionally with legal, design, construction and operations to achieve real 
estate development/acquisition goals 

• Negotiated terms and conditions of letters of intent and purchase agreements; reviewed 
contracts for accurate representation of agreement, timelines, easements and costs 

• Maintained up to date market intelligence on supply and demand, demographics, 
regulation/entitlements and government programs 

 



2 
 

Real Estate Development Manager             January 2016 – January 2019  
Columbia Residential, Atlanta, GA             
 

• Evaluated and recommended new business opportunities—including feasibility analysis 
and due diligence 

• Oversaw property acquisitions process—including managing due diligence, reviewing 3rd 
party reports and working with attorneys to facilitate Closing 

• Negotiated project specific contracts in coordination with the Construction Management 
Group—including but not limited to: Architect, Engineer, Environmental, General 
Contractor, Soils Engineer, etc. 

• Provided financial analyses related to budgets, forecasting, and cash flow management 
• Prepared pro forma statements and projections, which accurately reflected history of 

properties, as well as current and projected future market conditions 
• Created and maintained project budgets and high-level master schedule 
• Developed and prepared financial modeling, total development budget, operating 

assumptions, construction/permanent loan and investor analysis 
• Negotiated and obtained project financing including grants, loans, tax credits, rental 

assistance contracts, and other subsidies 
• Managed construction administration activities—including monitoring construction 

progress and quality, preparing project draws, coordinating investor contributions, 
administering the development budget and paying all invoices associated with each draw 

• Presented development plans to state official’s, local municipalities and community 
organizations to gain governmental and neighborhood support  

 
Senior Associate                 August 2012 – October 2017 
Red Rock Global, LLC, Atlanta, GA               

 
• Provided financial modeling/valuations using net present value (NPV), internal rate of 

return (IRR), and multiples to analyze lease proposals, letters of intent and offer letters 
• Analyzed data to make recommendations to Senior Partners and clients 
• Conducted feasibility analysis to determine programming of potential retail, office, flex, 

multifamily and mixed-use development sites 
• Participated in business development presentations to governmental agencies, Board of 

Directors and non-profit organizations 
• Responded to request for proposals (RFP) from municipalities, government agencies and 

corporations 
• Negotiated the selling and leasing of commercial real estate properties 
• Prepared financial summaries, memorandums and investment recommendations for clients 
• Engaged in local business community and charitable events, as well as industry and 

professional associations for the purpose of creating new contacts and generating new 
business 

 
  



3 
 

Account Manager             June 2010 - August 2012  
J & M Property Preservation, LLC, Atlanta, GA  

 
• Executed monthly budgeting and account management for superiors (i.e., compile and 

report all staff labor hours and expenses).  
• Prepared financial proposals, contracts, and forecasts of financial statements and compiled 

data for financial statements on a monthly basis.  
• Maintained collaborative relationships with asset management companies and financial 

institutions.  
• Presented periodic dashboard reports on current issues and future opportunities for clients. 
• Built credibility, established rapport, and maintained communication with upper 

management—including those external to the organization. 
• Participated in business development presentations to asset managers, financial institutions 

and property managers.  
 
EDUCATION                        
 
Clark Atlanta University, Atlanta, GA 
Bachelor of Business Administration, w/ an emphasis in International Business and Finance 
 
Leadership DeKalb, Decatur, GA 
Class of 2019 
 
Emerging Leaders DeKalb, Decatur, GA 
Class of 2018 
 

VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE & ORGANIZATIONS  
Qiangda “Strong” Academy, Board of Directors, 2017 - 2019 
Georgia Affordable Housing Coalition, Member 2016 - 2019 
Emerge Project – Foster Child Mentor, 2011 – Present 
Global Diversity Summit in Commercial Real Estate, Project Manager, 2012 - 2015 











CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 25, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:   Discuss potential moratorium on dollar general/family dollar, gas stations, storage companies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   City Council to discuss/review a potential moratorium on dollar general/family dollar, gas stations, and 
storage companies.  Per the enclosed news article, in December 2019 and again in January 2020 DeKalb County 
government discussed and held public meetings (hearing) on the possibility of enacting and extending a moratorium 
on allowing “small box discount stores,” dollar general-style/type businesses in unincorporated DeKalb County.   
 
Excerpt from one of the articles:  “Per the articles, the moratorium would also give officials the chance to draft long-
term regulations for the businesses, which were defined as retail stores less than 16,000 square feet that sell 
convenience shopping goods at a price lower than traditional establishments.  Critics say stores like Dollar General, 
Dollar Tree and Family Dollar contribute to food insecurity in “food deserts” where residents have limited access to 
grocery stores that sell fresh food. Some officials and residents worry dollar stores could discourage larger grocery 
stores from opening nearby.”  AJC, Jan 2020 article.   
 
City of Clarkston current inventory of “small box discount stores,” as referenced in the articles, as well as gas 
stations, and storage companies: 
 
-two (2) Family Dollar and one (1) Dollar General store 
 
-seven (7) Gas stations - Citgo, Exxon, Marathon, Texaco, 2 Chevrons, Shell – all also sell convenience-style-type 
items including beverages and mostly pre-packaged snack-type foods; another one (would have been the eighth) 
closed in 2019 (formerly a BP).   
 
-three (3) Storage companies – Cube Smart and 2 Uhauls  
 
Some additional related information of business types and the number: 
 
-two (2) full Grocery Stores – Thriftown & Super Fresh 
-approximately, twenty-eight (28) convenience style/type, smaller grocery stores 
   

ITEM NO:  E6 

ACTION TYPE: 
DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES     NO 
Pages: 4 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: CW YT BELL,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



DeKalb County extends temporary ban on 
dollar stores 
Dollar General (WSB-TV) 

Updated: January 29, 2020 - 5:45 AM 

DEKALB COUNTY — DeKalb County on Tuesday extended its temporary ban 
on new dollar stores.  The county commission unanimously passed a 180-day 
extension to its moratorium on “small box discount stores,” after officials and 
residents expressed concerns that a proliferation of dollar stores could have a 
negative impact on communities.  Dozens of residents attended a three-hour 
zoning meeting Tuesday night, where officials held a public hearing on the issue.    
 
The county first passed a 45-day moratorium on dollar stores in unincorporated 
DeKalb in December. The moratorium was set to expire at the end of the month. 
 “I'm not against box stores, but I’m against anything that is a detriment to my 
community,” Commissioner Lorraine Cochran-Johnson said at the meeting. 
 
Residents who spoke in support of more regulation — or a permanent ban — 
said they believed dollar stores were negatively and disproportionately affecting 
black neighborhoods.  Commissioners said the extension will give researchers 
from Georgia State University time to conduct an in-depth study on the impact of 
dollar stores in DeKalb.   
 
It would also give officials the chance to draft long-term regulations for the 
businesses, which were defined as retail stores less than 16,000 square feet that 
sell convenience shopping goods at a price lower than traditional establishments. 
Critics say stores like Dollar General, Dollar Tree and Family Dollar contribute to 
food insecurity in “food deserts” where residents have limited access to grocery 
stores that sell fresh food. Some officials and residents worry dollar stores could 
discourage larger grocery stores from opening nearby.     
  
Across DeKalb, there are 70 dollar stores selling discount goods, packaged 
foods and limited cold or frozen groceries.  “In south and unincorporated DeKalb, 
it’s like, one day it’s a vacant lot, the next day it’s a dollar store,” Cochran-
Johnson told The Atlanta Journal-Constitution last month. 
 
Stonecrest, one of DeKalb’s largest cities, has about 54,000 residents served by 
nearly a dozen dollar stores. In November, the city passed a total ban on future 
small box discount stores. 



“You’ve seen your last dollar store in Stonecrest,” Mayor Jason Lary previously 
told the AJC. The proposal to ban the stores sprouted from concerns from 
residents that the businesses do not provide enough fresh food options and give 
off a bad image, he said. 
 
Representatives for the dollar store companies said they help neighborhoods by 
selling groceries and other goods at discounted prices. A spokeswoman for 
Dollar General previously called the ordinances in Stonecrest and other cities 
“restrictive” and disappointing. 
 
GSU researcher Dean Dabney will lead the study for the county and plans to look 
into the effect of dollar stores on crime, property values and the local economy, 
officials said. The county has not yet set an exact amount for how much the 
study will cost. 
 
The issue of dollar store regulation is quickly becoming a national one. Cities 
across the country — including Birmingham, Alabama, Fort Worth, Texas and 
Oklahoma City — have passed legislation this year that regulates the industry, 
prohibiting the opening of a new dollar store within a certain distance of an 
existing one.             
  
Dollar stores have boomed in American communities over the last decade, 
according to Jerry Shannon, a University of Georgia professor who has 
researched food deserts and the spread of dollar stores. Since 2011, Dollar 
General, Dollar Tree and Family Dollar have grown from 20,000 stores to nearly 
30,000 in 2018, with thousands of future store openings planned, according tothe 
Institute for Local Self-Reliance. 
 

https://www.ajc.com/news/local/ban-the-dollar-store-stonecrest-dekalb-halt-new-ones/pQNHyOIgAJmkCGjuhp22QI/
https://ilsr.org/more-cities-pass-laws-to-block-dollar-store-chains/
https://ilsr.org/more-cities-pass-laws-to-block-dollar-store-chains/
https://ilsr.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Dollar_Store_Fact_Sheet.pdf


Ban the dollar store? Local communities halt new 
discount shops 
ONLY IN THE AJC: DOLLAR STORES  

Dec 17, 2019 

By  

 J.D. Capelouto, The Atlanta Journal-Constitution 

At one intersection in suburban DeKalb County, it takes less than five minutes to 
walk from the Dollar General to a Family Dollar. Walk another few minutes 
across Covington Highway, and you’ll hit a Dollar Tree.  That intersection in the 
Stonecrest area, where three dollar stores exist in a half-mile radius, is a symbol 
for what some local officials view as a growing problem with the discount stores.  
“You can stand in Family Dollar and look across the street and see a dollar 
store,” said DeKalb Commissioner Lorraine Cochran-Johnson. “We don’t need 
them on every corner.”           
              
 Local governments are beginning to take action. Late last month, the city of 
Stonecrest passed a total ban on future “small box discount stores,” outlawing 
businesses less than 12,000 square feet that sell most of their goods for $5 or 
less. Experts and leaders said this is believed to be the first time a metro Atlanta 
government has taken this step against dollar stores. 

Tuesday, DeKalb County passed a 45-day moratorium on new dollar stores in 
the unincorporated parts of the county. Commissioners want to study the issue 
before possibly passing long-term regulations next year. The restrictions in metro 
Atlanta accompany new laws in several cities around the U.S., where leaders are 
also grappling with the spread of the discount stores, which has accelerated over 
the last decade. 

“You’ve seen your last dollar store in Stonecrest,” Mayor Jason Lary said. The 
proposal to ban the stores sprouted from concerns from residents that the 
businesses do not provide enough fresh food options and give off a bad image, 
he said. Dollar stores sell discount goods, packaged foods and limited cold or 
frozen groceries.  Critics like Cochran-Johnson said the stores contribute to food 
insecurity in “food deserts” where residents have limited access to grocery stores 
that sell fresh food. Some officials and residents worry dollar stores could 
discourage larger grocery stores from opening nearby. But it remains to be seen 
whether halting the growth of dollar stores is the right solution to attract 
supermarkets to neighborhoods and invigorate local economies. 

https://www.ajc.com/online/contacts/capelouto/2uDkCJE86dVNggFzC47hJN/


Stonecrest, DeKalb County’s largest city, has about 54,000 residents served by 
nearly a dozen dollar stores. As for grocery stores, the city has a Publix, Food 
Depot and two Walmarts, which sell groceries.  Across the entire county, there 
are 70 dollar stores, according to Cochran-Johnson’s office.  A report from the 
county’s planning department earlier this year, obtained by The Atlanta Journal-
Constitution, found that dollar stores “have a disproportionate impact” on African-
American communities. Research from the Institute for Local Self-
Reliance identified a nationwide trend of dollar stores concentrating in lower-
income, predominantly black communities. Stonecrest is more than 90% black 
and is largely middle class, with a median household income of $46,000. 

“It’s the image that it portrays for a place. … We’re trying to send a signal that 
we’re a quality town,” said Lary, who has pushed for an upscale grocery store 
like Whole Foods or Sprouts to open in Stonecrest, which became a city in 2017.  
The issue is quickly becoming a national one. Cities across the country— 
including Birmingham, Alabama, Fort Worth, Texas and Oklahoma City — have 
passed legislation this year that regulates the industry, prohibiting the opening of 
a new dollar store within a certain distance of an existing one. None of the 
regulations has been challenged in court. 

A spokeswoman for Dollar General called the ordinances in Stonecrest and other 
cities “restrictive” and disappointing.  “I think our customers who may be forced to 
travel further or spend more money on everyday needs are the ones that are 
more (directly) affected by this,” the spokeswoman, Crystal Ghassemi, said, 
adding that the company creates jobs and is adding some fresh produce into 
more of its stores.  Dollar Tree, which acquired Family Dollar in 2015, said in a 
statement to the AJC that it “understand(s) deeply the concerns of many local 
officials regarding the changing nature of our shared communities,” and said the 
stores help local economies.  Officials with Dollar Tree and Family Dollar did not 
specifically respond to inquiries from the AJC about the concerns local officials 
have about proliferation and food security. 

Dollar stores have boomed in American communities over the last decade, 
according to Jerry Shannon, a University of Georgia professor who has 
researched food deserts and the spread of dollar stores. Since 2011, Dollar 
General, Dollar Tree and Family Dollar have grown from 20,000 stores to nearly 

https://ilsr.org/new-maps-dollar-stores-spread/
https://ilsr.org/new-maps-dollar-stores-spread/
https://ilsr.org/more-cities-pass-laws-to-block-dollar-store-chains/


30,000 in 2018, with thousands of future store openings planned, according 
to the Institute for Local Self-Reliance.  “They’re seen as being really detrimental 
both in terms of economic development, and the types of goods they can offer 
the community,” Shannon said, adding that a negative stigma often accompanies 
them. 
 
But researchers still don’t have all the answers for how, or whether, to combat 
dollar stores.  “This growth has been so recent,” Shannon said, that experts are 
“still feeling our way through the dark.”  The 45-day moratorium in DeKalb will 
give leaders time to research and draft regulations for dollar stores, Cochran-
Johnson said. The commissioner clarified she is not opposed to dollar stores, 
and often shops at them. 

“I am against the proliferation of dollar stores in communities and particularly 
under-served communities,” she said. “In south and unincorporated DeKalb, it’s 
like, one day it’s a vacant lot, the next day it’s a dollar store.” 

 

https://ilsr.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Dollar_Store_Fact_Sheet.pdf
https://ilsr.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Dollar_Store_Fact_Sheet.pdf


CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 25, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:   Discuss Community Benefits Agreements   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   City Council to discuss/review community benefits agreements.    
 
   

ITEM NO:  E7 

ACTION TYPE: 
DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES     NO 
Pages: 12 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: CW Y T BELL,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: February 25, 2020 
 

 
SUBJECT: Reschedule the August and November City Council Meetings.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE:  For the Council to consider rescheduling the August 4th Council Meeting to Thursday, August 
6th and rescheduling the November 3rd, 2020 Council Meeting to Thursday November 5, 2020. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
The August Council Meeting conflicts with the Annual National Night Out event.  Re-scheduling this 
meeting to Thursday, August 6th, will allow full staff, citizen and elected officials participation in the 
National Night Out Event. 
 
The November Council Meeting currently falls on the same day as Election Day. Holding the Council 
Meeting on the same day may present scheduling conflicts for Elected Officials and citizens who may 
wish to participate in both of these civic opportunities.  Moving the November Council Meeting will 
allow Officials, citizens and staff to perform respective responsibilities without conflict or limitation. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends that the Council approve rescheduling the August 4th Council 
Meeting to Thursday, August 6, 2020 and to reschedule the November 3rd Council Meeting to Thursday, 
November 5, 2020.  

 

 

 
 

ITEM NO: E8 
 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHEMENT: YES NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489  



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEB 25, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Urban Productive Landscape Installations - Recommend Selection of Low Bidder 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   Staff identified an opportunity to replace typical landscape plantings currently programmed at three (3) 
active city infrastructure projects with an alternative landscaping design that incorporates urban agriculture 
plantings. Known in the industry as “Urban Productive Landscaping”, this new approach to landscaping weaves 
edible and non-edible native plantings at “high pedestrian” locations whereby the public can visualize and be 
educated  on non-traditional landscape plantings. This alternate approach can also result in less maintenance while 
increasing the cohesiveness of the community through social interaction. 
 
Although maintenance costs can be less than traditional landscape plantings, attention to this function is still 

required and the work tasks associated with the maintenance can vary depending on the specific design. As such, it 

is expected that some limited training of the Public Works staff will be included in the Collaborative Infrastructure 

Services inspection tasks for the project. 

Bid Results  

Project was advertised for 4 weeks. Legal advertisement was posted on the city web site, glga.org and the DOAS 

Procurement Registry. On January 27th, 2020, two (2) bids were received for the PRODUCTIVE URBAN LANDSCAPE 

INSTALLATION PROJECT. The bid results are as follows: 

Natural Born Tillers - $76,236.45 

Shades of Green Permaculture Design - $54,963 

Bidders completed the required bid submittal documentation. Bid amounts were verified and accurate. The low 

bidder, identified as Shades of Green Permaculture Design, Inc, was deemed qualified to perform the work. 

Reference checks were performed and no issues were encountered. 

Prior to bid opening, CIS prepared a “Probable Estimate of Construction Cost”. This estimate was $40,000. The low 

bid was 27% more than the engineering estimate.  

Project Scope 

The project entails installing various urban agriculture plantings (edible and non-edible) and wildflowers at three 

locations; including hardscape amenities at the Brockett Triangle location such as a perimeter fence and trellis’.  

The plant types at each location are attached. 

   

ITEM NO:  E9 

ACTION TYPE: 
DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages: 6 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



Funding Source 

This project will be funded through the following funding sources – all of which are currently under construction; 

City Streetscape Improvements, Friendship Forest Wildlife Sanctuary Improvements, and the East Ponce-Church 

Street Pedestrian Improvements projects 

Each of the three active construction projects have specific areas where traditional roadside landscape plantings, or 

in the case of Friendship Forest wetland plantings, can be removed and replaced with the Urban Productive 

Landscape plantings identified in the bid package. Removing the costs for these traditional landscaping plantings 

resulted in the following project cost reductions: 

 Streetscape Plantings at Refugee Coffee Frontage (Market Street) - $3,500 

 Friendship Forest - $5,000 

 East Ponce @ Church Street Pedestrian Improvements - $10,000 

Cost of Removing Traditional Landscape Plantings - $18,500 

Cost differential is $54,963 - $18,500 = $36,463 

Attachments:  Plant Schedules 

   
 
NEED/ IMPACT: Improve/enhance the City’s landscape infrastructure related to the three referenced construction 
projects.     
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Mayor and Council to discuss and adopt staff recommendation to proceed with low bid.   



TABLE 1 

PLANT INVENTORY 
(Refugee Coffee) 

PLANT/TREE NAME SIZE QUANTITY 
Arbequina Olive (hardy olive) - 
tree 

5 gal 5 

Loquat - tree 5 gal 3 
Felijoa (pineapple guava) - bush 3 gal 5 
Hardy Bananas - bush 3 gal 2 
Hardy Kiwi  - vine 3 gal 3 
Jasmine - vine 3 gal 6 
Perennials - mixed 
herbs/vegetables, pollinators and 
natives 

4-6 inch containers 50 

Annuals – mixed vegetables & 
flowers  

4-6 inch containers 50 



TABLE 2 

WILDFLOWER SEED MIXTURE 

(Refugee Coffee) 
At a minimum, the seed mixture shall include the following: 

• Plains Coreopsis (Calliopsis)
• Red phlox
• Indian blanket
• Black-eyed Susan
• Butterfly Weed
• Purple Coneflower
• Red Standing Cypress
• Blazing Star
• Wild Lupine
• Scarlet Sage
• Spiderwort



TABLE 3 

ROCK MEADOW SEED MIXTURE 
(Friendship Forest Wildlife Sanctuary) 

The native wildflowers and grasses in this mix will provide an attractive display of 
color from spring to fall. This mixture is designed for mesic to upland sites and full sun 
to lightly shaded areas. Seed to be purchased from ERNST SEED Company.  

Mesic to Dry Native Pollinator Mix Composition 
27.0% Schizachyrium scoparium, 'Camper' (Little Bluestem, ‘Camper’) 
20.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype)
15.0% Sorghastrum nutans, PA Ecotype (Indiangrass, PA Ecotype)
5.0% Panicum clandestinum, 'Tioga' (Deertongue, ‘Tioga’)
5.0% Tridens flavus (Purpletop)
4.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, PA Ecotype (Partridge Pea, PA Ecotype)
3.0% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis)
3.0% Echinacea purpurea (Purple Coneflower)
3.0% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal 
Plain NC Ecotype)
3.0% Verbena hastata, PA Ecotype (Blue Vervain, PA Ecotype)
2.0% Heliopsis helianthoides, PA Ecotype (Oxeye Sunflower, PA Ecotype)
2.0% Penstemon digitalis, PA Ecotype (Tall White Beardtongue, PA Ecotype)
1.0% Asclepias incarnata, PA Ecotype (Swamp Milkweed, PA Ecotype)
1.0% Liatris spicata, PA Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, PA Ecotype)
0.9% Aster novae-angliae, PA Ecotype (New England Aster, PA Ecotype)
0.7% Aster laevis, NY Ecotype (Smooth Blue Aster, NY Ecotype)
0.5% Geum canadense, PA Ecotype (White Avens, PA Ecotype)
0.5% Senna hebecarpa, VA & WV Ecotype (Wild Senna, VA & WV Ecotype)
0.5% Zizia aurea, PA Ecotype (Golden Alexanders, PA Ecotype)
0.4% Baptisia australis, Southern WV Ecotype (Blue False Indigo, Southern 
WV Ecotype)
0.4% Monarda fistulosa, Fort Indiantown Gap-PA Ecotype (Wild Bergamot, 
Fort Indiantown Gap-PA Ecotype)
0.3% Eupatorium perfoliatum, PA Ecotype (Boneset, PA Ecotype)
0.3% Lespedeza capitata, RI Ecotype (Roundhead Lespedeza, RI Ecotype)
0.3% Pycnanthemum tenuifolium (Narrowleaf Mountainmint)
0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, PA Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, PA Ecotype)
0.2% Solidago juncea, PA Ecotype (Early Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)
0.1% Eupatorium fistulosum, PA Ecotype (Joe Pye Weed, PA Ecotype)
0.1% Eupatorium rugosum, PA Ecotype (White Snakeroot, PA Ecotype)
0.1% Solidago nemoralis, PA Ecotype (Gray Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)
0.1% Solidago rugosa, PA Ecotype (Wrinkleleaf Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)

https://www.ernstseed.com/product/little-bluestem-camper/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/virginia-wildrye-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/indiangrass-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/deertongue-tioga/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/purpletop/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/partridge-pea-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/lanceleaf-coreopsis/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/purple-coneflower/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blue-vervain-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/oxeye-sunflower-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/tall-white-beardtongue-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/swamp-milkweed-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/marsh-dense-blazing-star-spiked-gayfeather-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/new-england-aster-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/smooth-blue-aster-ny-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/white-avens-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/wild-senna-va-wv-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/golden-alexanders-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blue-false-indigo-southern-wv-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blue-false-indigo-southern-wv-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/wild-bergamot-fort-indiantown-gap-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/wild-bergamot-fort-indiantown-gap-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/boneset-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/roundhead-lespedeza-ri-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/narrowleaf-mountainmint/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/ohio-spiderwort-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/early-goldenrod-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/joe-pye-weed-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/white-snakeroot-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/gray-goldenrod-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/wrinkleleaf-goldenrod-pa-ecotype/


TABLE 4 

PLANT INVENTORY 
(Friendship Forest Wildlife Sanctuary) 

 

PLANT/TREE NAME SIZE  QUANTITY 
Mayhaws - tree 7 gal 4 
Serviceberries - tree 7 gal 3 
Apricot - tree 7 gal 3 
Elderberry - bush 2 gal 12 
Blackberry (thornless) - bush 2 gal 10 
Hazelnut (fiberts) 2 gal 8 
 



TABLE 5 

PLANT INVENTORY 
(Brockett Triangle) 

 

PLANT/TREE NAME SIZE  QUANTITY 
Asian Persimmon - tree 5 gal 2 
Asian Pear - tree 5 gal 1 
Loquat - tree 5 gal 3 
Pakistan Mulberry - tree 5 gal 1 
Plum - tree 5 gal 2 
Arbequina Olive (hardy olive) - tree 5 gal 3 
Blueberries - bush 3 gal 8 
Raspberries - bush 3 gal 7 
Feijoa (Pineapple Guava) - bush 3 gal 5 
Muscadines - bush 3 gal 6 
Hardy Kiwi - bush 3 gal 2 
Summersweet Clethra 3 gal 12 
Virginia Sweetspire 3 gal 14 
Wood Oats 1 gal 9 
White Muhly Grass 1 gal 14 
Perennials – mixed 
herbs/pollinators/natives 

4-6 inch containers 200 

Annuals – mixed vegetables & 
flowers 

4-6 inch containers 200 

 



TABLE 6 

WILDFLOWER SEED MIXTURE 
 (Brockett Triangle) 

This mix of grasses and forbs offers season-long color for diverse quail, 
songbird and pollinator habitat. 

 
GA Piedmont UPL Meadow Mix Composition 
 

41.7% Schizachyrium scoparium, 'Blaze' (Little Bluestem, ‘Blaze’) 
24.2% Panicum anceps, GA Ecotype (Beaked Panicgrass, GA Ecotype) 
15.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype) 
3.7% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal 
Plain NC Ecotype) 
3.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, FL Ecotype (Partridge Pea, FL Ecotype) 
2.7% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis) 
1.5% Liatris spicata, FL Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, FL Ecotype) 
1.3% Rudbeckia fulgida var. fulgida, Northern VA Ecotype (Orange 
Coneflower, Northern VA Ecotype) 
1.0% Chamaecrista nictitans, NC Ecotype (Sensitive Pea, NC Ecotype) 
1.0% Eryngium yuccifolium, SC Ecotype (Rattlesnake Master, SC Ecotype) 
1.0% Helenium flexuosum, VA Ecotype (Purplehead Sneezeweed, VA Ecotype) 
0.7% Solidago speciosa, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype (Showy Goldenrod, Coastal 
Plain GA Ecotype) 
0.7% Vernonia gigantea, FL Ecotype (Giant Ironweed, FL Ecotype) 
0.5% Baptisia albescens, SC Ecotype (Spiked Wild Indigo, SC Ecotype) 
0.3% Silphium asteriscus var. laevicaule, GA Ecotype (Starry Rosinweed, GA 
Ecotype) 
0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, AL Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, AL Ecotype) 
0.3% Vernonia angustifolia, SC Ecotype (Tall Ironweed, SC Ecotype) 
0.2% Coreopsis leavenworthii, FL Ecotype (Leavenworth’s Tickseed, FL 
Ecotype) 
0.2% Coreopsis tripteris, AL Ecotype (Tall Coreopsis, AL Ecotype) 
 

https://www.ernstseed.com/product/little-bluestem-blaze/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/beaked-panicgrass-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/virginia-wildrye-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/partridge-pea-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/lanceleaf-coreopsis/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/marsh-dense-blazing-star-spiked-gayfeather-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/orange-coneflower-northern-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/orange-coneflower-northern-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/sensitive-pea-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/rattlesnakemaster-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/purplehead-sneezeweed-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/showy-goldenrod-coastal-plain-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/showy-goldenrod-coastal-plain-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/giant-ironweed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/spiked-wild-indigo-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/starry-rosinweed-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/starry-rosinweed-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/ohio-spiderwort-al-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/tall-ironweed-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/leavenworths-tickseed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/leavenworths-tickseed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/tall-coreopsis-al-ecotype/


CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEB 25, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Willow Creek Apartment (Smith St) Culvert Replacement project 
       Recommend Selection of Low Bidder & Temporary Construction Ease 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   To replace a 36 inch diameter corrugated metal pipe, located approximately on the property line 
between 982 Smith Street (Willow Creek Apartments) and 1000 Smith Street, that was found to be corroded and 
blocked with construction debris and sediment. The culvert is unable to convey rain/stormwater.  Various sections 
of the culvert have experienced signs of deterioration resulting in settlement in some areas of the 1000 Smith Street 
apartment complex parking lot.           
  
The culvert is part of the city stormwater system.  The culvert section in question is located at the outfall of the 

storm line located under Smith Street and is part of a system of culverts and ditches that conveys stormwater from 

the North Indian Creek/East Ponce de Leon detention pond and ultimately to South Fork Peachtree Creek.  

The culvert footprint is located entirely on private property and extends approximately along the property line 

between 2 parcels. No platted drainage easement exists.  

Bid Results 

Project was advertised for 4 weeks. Legal advertisement was posted on the city web site, glga.org and the DOAS 

Procurement Registry.  On January 31st, 2020, nine (9) bids were received for the Willow Creek Apartment Culvert 

Replacement Project. The bid results are as follows: 

Ohmshiv Construction - $127,275.00 

Construction 57, Inc - $101,000.00 

SITE Engineering - $242,100.00 

SOL Construction, LLC - $99,426.44 

BRTU Construction, Inc - $158,830.00 

The Dickerson Group - $169,570.00 

Cline Services Group - $247,450.00 

A&S Paving - $139,805.00 

Construction Engineering & Management (CE&M)- $81,360.00 

Bidders completed the required bid submittal documentation. Bid amounts were verified and accurate. The low 

bidder, identified as Construction Engineering & Management (CE&M), was deemed qualified to perform the work. 

CE&M is a GDOT pre-qualified firm. 

ITEM NO:  E10 

ACTION TYPE: 
DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages: 2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



Prior to bid opening, CIS prepared a “Probable Estimate of Construction Cost”. This estimate was $118,000. The low 

bid was 30% less than the engineering estimate.  

Given the significant difference in the low bid and the engineering estimate, including the difference between the 

low bid and the 2nd lowest bid, CIS staff met with the owner to discuss. The owner of CE&M is comfortable with the 

bid amount and is willing to proceed with the work as specified in the bid documents. 

Project Scope 

The project entails the replacement of an existing deteriorated culvert with a 36 inch aluminized corrugated metal 

pipe. Work will also include partial replacement of an existing parking lot and fences. The footprint of the existing 

culvert is approximately on the property line between the two adjacent apartment complexes on Smith Street.   

Weather permitting, work will be completed within 30 days after the city issues a Notice-to-Proceed. Residents in 

the two complexes will receive notification of culvert replacement no later than 72 hours before work commences. 

The portion of the parking lot to the east of the culvert replacement work will not be available for public use. 

Fortunately, no parking stalls are affected and access will still be available during construction.   

 Temporary Easements for Construction 

Temporary construction easements are required to enter private property. The easements are in the process of 

being obtained. No work will begin until easements are signed by the City and the respective owner of each 

complex.  

Funding Source 

This project will be funded through the Stormwater Enterprise Program 

Attachments: Easement Areas 

 
NEED/ IMPACT: Improve/enhance the City’s stormwater infrastructure designed to allow for reasonable and proper 
flow of rain/storm waters to alleviate street, right-of-way, and private flooding.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Mayor and Council to discuss and adopt staff recommendation to proceed with low bid.   



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT  
 

 

 

 

 

Approximate Location of the Temporary Easement 
982 SMITH STREET – WILLOW CREEK APARTMENTS 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT  
 

 

  

 

 

Approximate Location of the Temporary Easement 
                            1000 SMITH STREET 

SMITH STREET 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEB 25, 2020 
 
SUBJECT:  Amend Early Learning Task Force Resolution to increase members from 11 to 20 and appoint members 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   At the September 3, 2019, Clarkston City Council meeting, the City Council adopted a resolution creating 
an Early Learning Task Force (CELTF) comprising eleven (11) members with a mission to research, discuss, and create 
practical, innovative, and equitable practices, polices, and programs designed to further enhance early learning 
activities.  Additionally, the CELTF shall collaborate with policy makers, families, caregivers, and other partners to 
take a holistic view of the needs and aspirations of families with young children; review local, state, and national 
early learning strategies; and develop short and long term recommendations.   
 
Interested participants completed an application in December 2019 and January 2020.  Based on some considerable 
interest, a request has been made to increase the number of members of the CELTF from 11 to 20, specifically to 
increase the number of Clarkston residents from five (5) to six (6), with two (2) still appointed by the Mayor and four 
(4) appointed by a majority vote of the City Council; and the number of community members from three (3) to 
eleven (11).  The other members remains the same:  two Council Members and one member of City management.   
 
A list of appointments is enclosed.   
 
NEED/ IMPACT: A City of Clarkston Early Learning Task Force, to be created lasting for no more than one year, would 
bring together city policy makers, families, caregivers, and strategic partners to take a holistic look at the needs and 
aspirations of families with young children, review innovative and impactful policies, practices, and programs, and 
develop short and-long term recommendations based on assets, research, and opportunities.    
  
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Mayor and Council to discuss and adopt a change to the Resolution increasing the number of 
members from 11 to 20 and appointing the referenced members to the Early Learning Task Force for a term of one 
(1) year.   
 
   

ITEM NO:  E11 

ACTION TYPE: 
DISCUSSION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES     NO  
Pages: 3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO  

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   









CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 25, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:   Appeal of City Denial of Renewal Application for Permit to Operate a Pawn Shop or Title Pawn for TitleMax 
located at 4222 E Ponce de Leon Ave   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   City Council to discuss/review appeal by Title Max of City staff denial of Title Max renewal application for 
permit to operate a pawn shop or title pawn.   
 
   

ITEM NO:  E12 

ACTION TYPE: 
BUSINESS APPEAL 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages: 12 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

















  
 
 
 

1055 Rowland Street, Clarkston, Georgia 30021 

Phone: 404-296-6489  Fax 404-296-6480 

 

Mayor 
Ted Terry 

 

City Council 
YT Bell    Awet Eyasu, Vice Mayor 

Jamie Carroll  Ahmed Hassan 

Laura Hopkins  Debra Johnson 

 

City Manager 
Robin I. Gomez 

 

January 10, 2020 

 

 

VIA PRIORITY MAIL # _7019 0160 0000 2140 4762________ 

 

Ashley Cantrell 

TitleMax of Georgia, Inc. 

15 Bull St, Ste 200 

Savannah  GA    31401 

 

  RE: Denial of Renewal of Application for Permit to Operate a Pawn Shop or Title Pawn 

   TitleMax Pawnbroker at 4222 E. Ponce de Leon Ave. 

 

Dear Ashley Cantrell: 

 

 This letter shall serve as notice that the City of Clarkston has denied your application to renew the 

above-referenced Pawn license.  Please find enclosed your check for the $3,500 license fee. 

The City denied your application pursuant to City Code §11-5(7).  The above-referenced business has failed to 

conduct itself in accordance with applicable regulations and is not in conformity with location requirements for 

pawnbrokers.   

 

 Specifically, the store manager admitted to the City Council on November 26, 2019 that the store 

habitually remains open for business between 5:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m., in violation of City Code §11-121.  

Moreover, 4222 E. Ponce de Leon is prohibited from being a pawnbroker location by City Code §11-113 

because it is within 1,000 feet of a structure in residential use, specifically 1132 Vaughan St and within 1,000 

feet of a church, specifically Clarkston First Baptist Church located at 3999 Church St.   

 

 Finally, please be advised that you have the right to appeal this nonrenewal pursuant to City Code §11-7. 

       

 

Sincerely, 

       
      Robin I. Gomez  

      Clarkston City Manager 

 

cc: Tracy Ashby, City Clerk 

J. Seth Riley 



 



 



  
 
 
 

1055 Rowland Street, Clarkston, Georgia 30021 

Phone: 404-296-6489  Fax 404-296-6480 

 

Mayor 
Ted Terry 

 

City Council 
YT Bell    Awet Eyasu, Vice Mayor 

Jamie Carroll  Ahmed Hassan 

Laura Hopkins  Debra Johnson 

 

City Manager 
Robin I. Gomez 

 

 

February 13, 2020 

 

 

VIA USPS #: 70190160000021396159 

& Email: jballi@taylorenglish.com 

 

 

James A. Balli, Esq. 

Taylor English Duma, LLP 

1600 Parkwood Circle, Suite 400 

 Atlanta, GA 30339 

 

RE: Appeal of Denial of Application For Permit to Operate a Pawn Shop or Title 

Pawn for TitleMax Pawnbroker located at 4222 E. Ponce de Leon Ave. 

 

Dear Mr. Balli: 

 

 The City of Clarkston received your letter dated February 3, 2020, appealing the above 

referenced denial of TitleMax’s application for permit to operate a pawn shop or title pawn.  

Pursuant to City Code Section 11-126, TitleMax’s appeal will be heard by the Clarkston City 

Council at its regular meeting to take place on March 3, 2020, beginning at 7:00 p.m. at 

Clarkston City Hall, located at 3921 Church St in Clarkston, GA. 

 

CORDIALLY, 

 

 

Robin I. Gómez, Clarkston City Manager 

 

 

 

 

Copy:  Ashley Cantrell 

       Stephen G. Quinn, City Attorney 

mailto:jballi@taylorenglish.com

	SUMMARY SHEET - CLARKSTON RESIDENT SPEAKS PROGRAM PRESENTATION.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Clarkston Residents Speak Program - Presentations

	SUMMARY SHEET  CLARKSTON DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY APPOINTMENTS.pdf
	SUBJECT:  CLARKSTON DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CDA) APPOINTMENT

	SUMMARY SHEET - DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED MORATORIUM OF CERTAIN BUSINESSES.pdf
	SUBJECT:   Discuss potential moratorium on dollar general/family dollar, gas stations, storage companies

	SUMMARY SHEET - COMMUNITY BENEFITS AGREEMENTS.pdf
	SUBJECT:   Discuss Community Benefits Agreements

	Clarkston - Productive Urban Landscape - Plantings - for Council Memo.pdf
	BIDDING INSTRUCTIONS
	FAILURE TO RETURN THE FOLLOWING BID DOCUMENTS COULD RESULT IN THE BID BEING DEEMED NON-RESPONSIVE AND BEING REJECTED:
	Add additional pages as necessary for the Addendum
	Bidder further declares that the full name and resident address of Bidder’s Principal is as follows:

	[BIDDERS MUST RETURN THIS FORM WITH BID RESPONSE]
	By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm, or corporation which is contracting with the CITY has registered with and is participating in a ...

	[BIDDERS MUST RETURN THIS FORM WITH BID RESPONSE]
	Please list any family member that is currently (or has been employed within the last 12 months) by the CITY and your relation:
	CERTIFICATION OF SPONSOR DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
	I hereby certify that I am a principle and duly authorized representative or_______________________________________________________

	SCHEDULE OF EVENTS
	FOR REFERENCE ONLY - DO NOT SUBMIT WITH BID RESPONSE


	Productive Urban Farm - Exhibit C-1 - FF.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-000 BID COVER

	02 C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values


	02 C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values


	03 C-00 COVER.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-00 COVER


	04 C-01 General Notes & Legend.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-01 General Notes & Legend


	05 C-02 PARKING LOT EX. COND..pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-02 PARKING LOT EX. COND.


	02 C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-000.1 Sheet Index & Sched. of Values


	03 C-00 COVER.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-00 COVER


	04 C-01 General Notes & Legend.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-01 General Notes & Legend


	05 C-02 PARKING LOT EX. COND..pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-02 PARKING LOT EX. COND.


	06 C-03 PAVILION EX. COND..pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-03 PAVILION EX. COND.


	07 C-04 PARKING LOT DEMO.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-04 PARKING LOT DEMO


	08 C-05 PAVILION DEMO.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-05 PAVILION DEMO


	09 C-06 OVERALL SITE PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-06 OVERALL SITE PLAN


	10 C-07 PARKING LOT SITE.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-07 PARKING LOT SITE


	11 C-08 PAVILION SITE.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-08 PAVILION SITE


	12 C-09 PARKING LOT GRADING.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-09 PARKING LOT GRADING


	13 C-10 PAVILION GRADING.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-10 PAVILION GRADING


	14 C-11 PARKING LOT UTILITY.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-11 PARKING LOT UTILITY


	15 C-12 PAVILION UTILITY.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-12 PAVILION UTILITY


	16 C-13 PIPE PROFILES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-13 PIPE PROFILES


	17 C-14 PARKING LOT - LANDSCAPE PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-14 PARKING LOT - LANDSCAPE PLAN


	18 C-15 EROSION CONTROL NOTES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-15 EROSION CONTROL NOTES


	19 C-16 EC Phase 1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-16 EC Phase 1


	20 C-17  EC Phase 2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-17  EC Phase 2


	21 C-18 EC Phase 3.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-18 EC Phase 3


	22 C-19 ES & PC Notes_GAR 100001.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-19 ES & PC Notes_GAR 100001


	24 C-21 ESPC DETAIL (2).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-21 ESPC DETAIL (2)


	25 C-22 ESPC DETAIL (3).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-22 ESPC DETAIL (3)


	26 C-23 TREE DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-23 TREE DETAILS


	27 C-24 SITE DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-24 SITE DETAILS


	28 C-25 SITE FURNISHINGS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-25 SITE FURNISHINGS


	29 C-26 STORM DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-26 STORM DETAILS


	part 2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-27 SEWER DETAILS

	FF WETLAND PLANS.pdf
	FF EROS
	FF LAND
	FF NOTES AND DTLS

	32 C-29 SEPTIC DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-29 SEPTIC DETAILS


	31 C-28 WATER DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-28 WATER DETAILS


	30 C-27 SEWER DETAILS.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C-27 SEWER DETAILS



	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	GDOT Spec Organic Soil Additives - Planting Topaoil - EXHIBIT E.pdf
	X8931
	X893101
	X8932
	X893201
	X893202
	X893203
	X893204
	X893205
	X893206
	X893207
	X893207B
	X893208
	X893209
	X893209A2

	Blank Page
	City of Clarkston - Generl Fund - 1 Table 3 - Rock Meadow Seed Mixture.pdf
	Mesic to Dry Native Pollinator Mix Composition
	20.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype)
	15.0% Sorghastrum nutans, PA Ecotype (Indiangrass, PA Ecotype)
	5.0% Panicum clandestinum, 'Tioga' (Deertongue, ‘Tioga’)
	5.0% Tridens flavus (Purpletop)
	4.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, PA Ecotype (Partridge Pea, PA Ecotype)
	3.0% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis)
	3.0% Echinacea purpurea (Purple Coneflower)
	3.0% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype)
	3.0% Verbena hastata, PA Ecotype (Blue Vervain, PA Ecotype)
	2.0% Heliopsis helianthoides, PA Ecotype (Oxeye Sunflower, PA Ecotype)
	2.0% Penstemon digitalis, PA Ecotype (Tall White Beardtongue, PA Ecotype)
	1.0% Asclepias incarnata, PA Ecotype (Swamp Milkweed, PA Ecotype)
	1.0% Liatris spicata, PA Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, PA Ecotype)
	0.9% Aster novae-angliae, PA Ecotype (New England Aster, PA Ecotype)
	0.7% Aster laevis, NY Ecotype (Smooth Blue Aster, NY Ecotype)
	0.5% Geum canadense, PA Ecotype (White Avens, PA Ecotype)
	0.5% Senna hebecarpa, VA & WV Ecotype (Wild Senna, VA & WV Ecotype)
	0.5% Zizia aurea, PA Ecotype (Golden Alexanders, PA Ecotype)
	0.4% Baptisia australis, Southern WV Ecotype (Blue False Indigo, Southern WV Ecotype)
	0.4% Monarda fistulosa, Fort Indiantown Gap-PA Ecotype (Wild Bergamot, Fort Indiantown Gap-PA Ecotype)
	0.3% Eupatorium perfoliatum, PA Ecotype (Boneset, PA Ecotype)
	0.3% Lespedeza capitata, RI Ecotype (Roundhead Lespedeza, RI Ecotype)
	0.3% Pycnanthemum tenuifolium (Narrowleaf Mountainmint)
	0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, PA Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, PA Ecotype)
	0.2% Solidago juncea, PA Ecotype (Early Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)
	0.1% Eupatorium fistulosum, PA Ecotype (Joe Pye Weed, PA Ecotype)
	0.1% Eupatorium rugosum, PA Ecotype (White Snakeroot, PA Ecotype)
	0.1% Solidago nemoralis, PA Ecotype (Gray Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)
	0.1% Solidago rugosa, PA Ecotype (Wrinkleleaf Goldenrod, PA Ecotype)


	City of Clarkston - General Fund - 1 Table 6 Wildflower Seed Mixture Brockett Triangle - Productive Urban Landscape.pdf
	GA Piedmont UPL Meadow Mix Composition
	41.7% Schizachyrium scoparium, 'Blaze' (Little Bluestem, ‘Blaze’)
	24.2% Panicum anceps, GA Ecotype (Beaked Panicgrass, GA Ecotype)
	15.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype)
	3.7% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype)
	3.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, FL Ecotype (Partridge Pea, FL Ecotype)
	2.7% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis)
	1.5% Liatris spicata, FL Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, FL Ecotype)
	1.3% Rudbeckia fulgida var. fulgida, Northern VA Ecotype (Orange Coneflower, Northern VA Ecotype)
	1.0% Chamaecrista nictitans, NC Ecotype (Sensitive Pea, NC Ecotype)
	1.0% Eryngium yuccifolium, SC Ecotype (Rattlesnake Master, SC Ecotype)
	1.0% Helenium flexuosum, VA Ecotype (Purplehead Sneezeweed, VA Ecotype)
	0.7% Solidago speciosa, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype (Showy Goldenrod, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype)
	0.7% Vernonia gigantea, FL Ecotype (Giant Ironweed, FL Ecotype)
	0.5% Baptisia albescens, SC Ecotype (Spiked Wild Indigo, SC Ecotype)
	0.3% Silphium asteriscus var. laevicaule, GA Ecotype (Starry Rosinweed, GA Ecotype)
	0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, AL Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, AL Ecotype)
	0.3% Vernonia angustifolia, SC Ecotype (Tall Ironweed, SC Ecotype)
	0.2% Coreopsis leavenworthii, FL Ecotype (Leavenworth’s Tickseed, FL Ecotype)
	0.2% Coreopsis tripteris, AL Ecotype (Tall Coreopsis, AL Ecotype)



	SUMMARY SHEET - EARLY LEARNING TASK FORCE AMEND RESOLUTION  APPOINT MEMBERS.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Amend Early Learning Task Force Resolution to increase members from 11 to 20 and appoint members

	Joseph Evans - Clarkston DDA App & resume.pdf
	Joseph Evans - Clarkston DDA App
	Joseph Evans III - Resume

	Agenda  Work Session Meeting 2-25-2020 .pdf
	E. NEW BUSINESS




